# **NOTE TO USERS**

Page(s) not included in the original manuscript and are unavailable from the author or university. The manuscript was scanned as received.

61

This reproduction is the best copy available.



# University of Alberta

Analysis of sophorolipids from Candida bombicola

by



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

in

Microbiology and Biotechnology

Department of Biological Sciences

Edmonton, Alberta Fall 2002



# National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

#### Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-81491-2



## **University of Alberta**

#### Library Release Form

#### Name of Author: Albert Lumanlan Ussher

Title of Thesis: Analysis of sophorolipids from Candida bombicola

Degree: Master of Science

Year this Degree Granted: 2002

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Ussher

#3-10436-124 Street Edmonton, Alberta T5N-1R6

Date submitted: 24 Fune 2002

**University of Alberta** 

**Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research** 

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommended to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled Analysis of sophorolipids from Candida bombicola by Albert Lumanlan Ussher in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Microbiology and Biotechnology.

William C. McCaffrey (PhD, PEng)

Phillip M. Fedorak (PhD)

Susan È. Jensen (PhD)

Date approved: 29 May 2002

## Abstract

*Candida bombicola* is capable of producing sophorolipids when grown in medium that includes nitrogen, lipidic and glucidic carbon sources. Sophorolipids have been commercially applied as biosurfactants. Purity of sophorolipids was analyzed in this study, in which *C. bombicola* was cultivated under batch conditions. The growth medium consisted of yeast extract, sunflower oil and glucose. Fermentation of 20 days was necessary to produce sophorolipids of high purity and yield (45 g/L). Yield coefficients for sophorolipids and biomass were determined to be 0.25 and 0.033, respectively. Prior to 20 days, the sophorolipids contained impurities observed by thin layer chromatography. Gas chromatography separated these into nine peaks, and mass spectrometry was used to identify oleic acid, and tentatively identify stearic and linoleic acids. The main repercussion of this result is the cost of long fermentation times. However, the alternate of shorter times would incur further costs in removing these impurities.

# Acknowledgement

- W. C. McCaffrey (PhD, PEng) for supervision and putting up with me for this long
- P. M Fedorak (PhD) for supervision and pointing out that consistency in writing is the key to success
- S. E. Jensen (PhD) for being in my committee under such short notice
- NSERC for funding
- M. A. Pickard (PhD) for insightful suggestions
- D. G. Cooper (PhD, PEng) for providing C. bombicola culture used in this thesis
- D. Bressler (PhD) for GC-MS analysis of TLC extracts
- M. Gray (PhD, PEng) and heavy oil group for letting me use their equipment
- A. Vo for GC analysis of the sunflower oil FAME
- M. Huang for the manual operation of the LC column
- T. Hantos and Microbiology prep crew for reluctantly at first, but finally warming up to the idea of lending me equipment for my experiments
- A. Koenig for answering all my Chemistry and Safety questions
- R. A. Day for providing a reference in thesis writing
- K. A. Powell for listening to me talk about the intricacies of this project
- Friends and colleagues for all their help and support
- Any others that I have forgotten

# **Table of Contents**

1.0	Backgr	ound

1.1 Introduction		1
1.1.1 Definition of biosurfac	stants	1
1.1.2 Market analysis of bio	surfactants	3
1.1.3 Sophorolipid application	ons	4
1.2 Sophorolipids		6
1.2.1 Structure and nomencl	ature	6
1.2.2 Sophorolipid composit	tion	10
1.2.3 Novel sophorolipids		12
1.3 Production of sophorolipids		16
1.3.1 Batch fermentations		17
1.3.2 Fed-batch		18
1.3.3 Other methods of soph	orolipid production	22
1.4 Sophorolipid production conditi	ons	23
1.4.1 Medium composition		23
1.4.2 Parameters for ferment	tation control	26
1.4.3 Optimization of media	formulations	27
2.0 Motivation and objective of thesis		29
3.0 Materials and Methods		30
3.1 Culture cultivation		30
3.2 Biomass determination		31
3.3 Sunflower oil and sophorolipid e	extraction	31

3.4 LC of sophorolipids	32
3.5 Lyophilization of sophorolipids	33
3.6 TLC of sophorolipids	33
3.7 Alkaline hydrolysis of sophorolipids	34
3.8 FAME analysis of sunflower oil and contents of TLC spot "G"	35
3.9 Surface and interfacial tension of acidic sophorolipids	36
4.0 Results	37
4.1 Biomass and substrate determination	37
4.2 Fermentation of C. bombicola	41
4.3 Sophorolipid recovery and characterization	48
4.3.1 TLC and LC of sophorolipids	48
4.3.2 TLC and GC analysis of the contents of spot "G"	52
4.3.3 GC-MS of components extracted from spot "G"	55
4.3.4 Interfacial properties of acidic sophorolipids	59
5.0 Discussion	62
5.1 Fermentation of C. bombicola	62
5.2 Biomass determination and product yield coefficients	66
5.3 Extraction of sophorolipids and sunflower oil	71
5.4 Purity of sophorolipids and FAME analysis	74
5.5 Surface and interfacial tensions	77
6.0 Summary and conclusions	79
7.0 References	82

# List of Tables

Table 1.1 Nomenclature of major sophorolipids.	8
<b>Fable 1.2</b> Production and yields of sophorolipids from various authors.	
Table 1.3 Summary of the optimization of the production medium by	
several authors.	29
Table 4.1 Effect of hexane and ethyl acetate extractions on the measurement	
of DCM of C. bombicola.	38
Table 4.2 Mass composition of sophorolipids in each LC fraction.	51
Table 4.3 Retention times and areas of the spot "G" FAME.	53

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Structural classes of major acidic and lactone sophorolipids.	21
Figure 4.1 DCM determination of C. bombicola grown in YM broth.	38
Figure 4.2 Major fatty acids of sunflower oil used in the production of	
sophorolipids from C. bombicola.	40
Figure 4.3 Minor fatty acids of sunflower oil used in the production of	
sophorolipids from C. bombicola.	40
Figure 4.4 Growth of C. bombicola in batch fermentation containing inoculum	
medium.	42
Figure 4.5 Growth of C. bombicola and production of sophorolipids in batch	
fermentation containing production medium.	44
Figure 4.6 Consumption of sunflower oil fatty acids during batch fermentation	
of C. bombicola in the production medium.	46
Figure 4.7 Consumption some minor fatty acids of sunflower oil during batch	
fermentation of C. bombicola in the production medium.	47
Figure 4.8 TLC of sophorolipids during batch fermentation of C. bombicola	
in the production medium.	49
Figure 4.9 TLC of ethyl acetate extracted and lyophilized sophorolipids.	50
Figure 4.10 TLC of the 20 d sophorolipid mixture separated by the LC.	51
Figure 4.11 TLC of sophorolipids and 18:1 fatty acid.	52
Figure 4.12 GC of methylated 18:1 and FAME contents of spot "G".	54
<b>Figure 4.13</b> MS of 18:1 FAME.	56
Figure 4.14 MS of peak five.	56

Figure 4.15 MS of 18:2 FAME.	57
Figure 4.16 MS of peak four.	57
Figure 4.17 MS of 18:0 FAME.	58
Figure 4.18 MS of peak six.	59
Figure 4.19 Surface property of acidic sophorolipids from C. bombicola.	60
Figure 4.20 Interfacial property of acidic sophorolipids from C. bombicola.	61
Figure 5.1 $Y_{P/S}$ and $Y_{X/S}$ for batch fermentations of <i>C. bombicola</i> .	70

# List of Equations

Equation 5.1 Mass balance of yield coefficients

# List of Abbreviations

Ac	acetate
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
C. bombicola	Candida bombicola
cm	centimeter
СМС	critical micelle concentration
C <sub>max</sub>	maximum concentration of fatty acid during fermentation (g/L)
C <sub>0</sub>	concentration of fatty acid at time zero (g/L)
Ct	concentration of fatty acid during sampling time of fermentation
C <sub>xm</sub>	maximum biomass yield
d	day
DCM	dry cell mass
FAME	fatty acid methyl ester
g/L	gram per liter
GC	gas chromatography
gp/gs	gram sophorolipids per gram substrates consumed
h	hour
Η	hydrogen atom
HC1	hydrochloric acid
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
IEC	International Equipment Company

kPa	kiloPascal
LC	liquid chromatography
Μ	molar concentration
m/m	mass to mass ratio
m/v	mass to volume ratio
m/z	mass to charge ratio, used in mass spectrometry
min	minute
mg/L	milligram per liter
mL	milliliter
mm	millimeter
mN/m	milli-Newtons per meter, measurement unit of interfacial and surface
	tensions
MS	mass spectrometry or mass spectrum
NAD(P)	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (phosphate)
nm	nanometer
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
°C	degree Celsius
OD	optical density of cell culture
P	product, used to represent sophorolipid yield
PTFE	polytetrafluoroethylene, used in stopcock of separatory funnel
R	generic term for H or carbon side chain
R <sub>f</sub>	rear to front ratio, used in TLC
rpm	revolutions per minute

S	second
S.	substrates consumed, glucose and oil
<b>S1</b>	sophorolipids
TLC	thin layer chromatography
UK	United Kingdom of Great Britain
US\$/kg	United States dollars per kilogram
UV	ultraviolet light
v/v	volume to volume ratio
v/v/v	volume to volume ratio
v/v/min	volume of air to volume of liquid to minute ratio, unit, used to represent
	aeration of stir tank fermenters
$\mathbf{X}$	biomass of C. bombicola
у	year
Y <sub>CO2/S</sub>	yield coefficient of carbon dioxide with respect to substrates consumed
YM	yeast-malt extract
Y <sub>P/S</sub>	yield coefficient of sophorolipids to substrates consumed
Y <sub>Р/Х</sub>	yield coefficient of sophorolipid to biomass produced
Y <sub>X/S</sub>	yield coefficient of biomass to substrates consumed
12:0	lauric acid or dodecanoic acid
14:0	myristic acid or tetradecanoic acid
16:0	palmitic acid or hexadecanoic acid
16:1	palmitoleic acid or 9-hexadecenoic acid
18:0	stearic acid or octadecanoic acid

18:1	oleic acid or 9-octadecenoic acid		
18:2	linoleic acid or 9,12-octadecadienoic acid		
18:3	linolenic acid or 9,12,15-octadecatrienoic acid		
20:0	arachidic acid or docosanoic acid		
20:1	gadoleic acid or 11-eicosenoic acid		
20:2	gadolenic acid or 11,14-eicosadienoic acid		
22:0	behenic acid or docosanoic acid		
22:1	cetoleic acid or 13-docosenoic acid		
24:0	lignoceric acid or tetracosanoic acid		
24:1	nervonic acid or 15-tetracosanoic acid		
%	percent		
μ	specific growth rate		
μL	microliter		
μm	micrometer		
$\mu_p$	specific sophorolipid production rate		

## 1.0 Background

## 1.1 Introduction

J. F. T. Spencer (Prairie Regional Laboratory, Saskatchewan, Canada) first isolated *C. bombicola* in 1954 from sow thistle petals (Spencer *et al.*, 1979). This organism was also isolated from several bumblebee nests in Western Canada. The name "*bombicola*" was derived from the word bumblebee. *C. bombicola* was classified in the family of Yeast Imperfecti. It was soon discovered that these organisms produced extracellular oil that was denser than water when cultivated in liquid broth medium. These molecules were characterized as sophorolipids (Gorin *et al.*, 1961). Sophorolipids are one type of biosurfactants.

#### 1.1.1 Definition of biosurfactants

Biosurfactants are biologically produced surfactants, and they are produced mainly by aerobically growing microorganisms in aqueous media from a carbon source feed stock such as mixtures of carbohydrates, hydrocarbons, oils, and fats (Bognolo, 1999). By definition, surfactants are amphiphilic molecules composed of hydrophilic and hydrophobic domains (Banat *et al.*, 2000). The lipophilic moiety of biosurfactants can be a protein or peptide with a high proportion of hydrophobic side chains, but is usually the hydrocarbon chain of a fatty acid with 10 to 18 carbon atoms. On the other hand, the hydrophilic group can be an amino acid, ionic peptide, ester, hydroxyl, phosphate, carboxylate, mono-, di-, or polysaccharides (Bognolo, 1999; Desai and Banat, 1997).

Surfactants are surface-active agents (Ron and Rosenberg, 2001) and as such are capable of reducing the surface and interfacial tension of the interfaces of liquids, solids and gases (Banat *et al.*, 2000). Interfacial tension is the force that keeps these surfaces apart or causes them to coalesce. There is no interfacial tension between surfaces of the same liquid, solid or gas. Surface tension is a special case of interfacial tension and describes the contact between solids or liquids with gases (Young and Coons, 1945). For example vegetable oil and water are unable to mix, because of high interfacial tension between the two liquids. In comparison, chloroform and methanol are miscible due near zero interfacial tension. The water-air contact is the classic example of surface tension. An ideal surfactant would reduce the interfacial and surface tension between these cases and allow the mixing of immiscible solids, liquids and gases. This ability to reduce interfacial tension is the major driving force in the application of surfactants. The creation of novel surfactants is attributed to the diverse combinations of immiscible solid, liquid and gases.

Biosurfactants are classified according to their chemical composition and their microbial origin. There are several major classes of b iosurfactants including, but not l imited t o glycolipids, lipopeptides and phospholipids. Glycolipids are the most studied biosurfactants, and are composed of a carbohydrate in combination with long chain aliphatic acids or hydroxylated aliphatic acids (Desai and Banat, 1997). Glycolipids are typically involved in the uptake of low polarity hydrocarbons such as alkanes by microorganisms (Bognolo, 1999). The best-known glycolipids (in decreasing order) are rhamnolipids, trehalolipids and sophorolipids. Rhamnolipids and trehalolipids are produced by *Pseudomonas* and *Mycobacterium* species respectively. In comparison,

many yeasts in the *Candida* genus produce sophorolipids, including *C. bombicola*, *C. apicola*, *C. bogoriensis*, and *C. petrophilum*. *C. bombicola* is the most studied of all the sophorolipid producing yeasts (Desai and Banat, 1997) followed by *C. apicola* (Hommel *et al.*, 1994a, 1994b, 1994c, Hommel and Huse, 1993; Hommel *et al.*, 1987). The reader is encouraged to seek the numerous reviews on biosurfactants for more detail (Ron and Rosenberg, 2001; Banat *et al.*, 2000; Bognolo, 1999; Makkar and Cameotra, 1999; Rosenberg and Ron, 1999; Desai and Banat, 1997; Lin, 1996; Desai and Desai, 1993; Hommel and Ratledge, 1993; Lang and Wagner, 1993; Fiechter, 1992; Georgiou *et al.*, 1992; Syldatk and Wagner, 1987; Cooper and Zajic, 1980; Stodola *et al.*, 1967).

#### 1.1.2 Market analysis of biosurfactants

The worldwide market for surfactants has been estimated at 9.4 billion US\$/y (Desai and Banat, 1997). For example, the US produces over  $250 \times 10^6$  kg of surfactants annually. The market v alue o f t hese s urfactants w as estimated at o ver 1.8 b illion U S\$ (United Soybean Board, 2002; Colin A. Houston and Associates, 1998). A break down of this market showed that anionic, nonionic and cationic surfactants accounted for 29 %, 26 % and 11 % respectively (Colin A. Houston and Associates, 1998). Moreover, surfactants utilized in household laundry detergents and industrial applications accounted for 54 % and 32 % respectively (Banat *et al.*, 2000). The overwhelming majority of these surfactants were chemically synthesized and mainly derived from petroleum.

There are several reasons why biosurfactants should capture a portion of this market. Advantages of biosurfactants over chemical surfactants are biodegradability, lower toxicity and biocompatibility, and activity at a wide range of pH, temperature and salinity (Desai and Banat, 1997). The majority of biosurfactants produced are anionic and nonionic molecules, and both molecules combined make up over 50 % of the US surfactant market. An increase in environmental awareness followed by legislation for environmentally friendly products has opened other markets for biosurfactants (Banat et al., 2000; Bognolo, 1999; Rosenberg and Ron, 1999). The cost of biosurfactants has been the most important deterrent to complete c ommercialization. Chemical surfactants a re typically sold for 3.3 US\$/kg to 6.6 US\$/kg. Some specialty surfactants run from around 2 US\$/kg to over 220 US\$/kg (Colin A. Houston and Associates, 1998). One estimate placed the cost of biosurfactants at 3 US\$/kg to 20 US\$/kg (Bognolo, 1999). More specifically, sophorolipids have been estimated at 2 US\$/kg, making these biosurfactants attractive for commercial application (Deshpande and Daniels, 1995).

#### 1.1.3 Sophorolipid applications

There are numerous and diverse "potential" applications for biosurfactants including hydrocarbon bioremediation, oil storage tank cleaning, enhanced oil recovery, therapeutic agents, agriculture adjuncts, personal care and hygiene, and food additives (Banat *et al.*, 2000). The focus of this section is to reveal "actual" applications of sophorolipids through examples of existing patents. The majority of patents on the applications of sophorolipids are in cosmetics and detergents. Sophorolipids have been used in cosmetics such as lotions and skin creams (Borzieux, 2000; Thorel *et al.*, 1998; Hayes, 1991). More specifically, sophorolipids have been used in cosmetic formulations of naturally occurring surfactants (Thorel *et al.*, 1998). In these patents, claims have been made that

when applied on the skin, sophorolipids can moisturize, condition, and protect dry skin (Borzieux, 2000; Hayes, 1991). Topically applied therapeutics included sophorolipids as the active ingredient for the treatment of the skin (Maingault, 1999). These have been shown to have us es in a nti-inflammation, and the inhibition of r adical formation and elastase activity (Hillion *et al.*, 1998).

Detergent f ormulations have a lso included the use of s ophorolipids. These have been found to be effective in liquid detergent composition for washing dishes or textiles by hand (Bergeron, 2001). Detergents used in washing machines have also included sophorolipids in their formulations (Clark *et al.*, 2001; Guerin *et al.*, 2001; Crawford and Sanderson, 1997). Sophorolipids combined with sodium lauryl sulfate have been shown to have effective germicidal properties. More specifically, 100 % kills of *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella* and *Shigella* within 30 s have been shown, after application to the surface (Pierce and Heilman, 2001).

There are a few cases of industrial application of sophorolipids. Sophorolipids have been included in surfactant formulations in soil bioremediations (Ducreux *et al.*, 1997). Compositions of bio-emulsifiers to facilitate the transportation of hydrocarbons in pipes have included the use of sophorolipids (Hayes *et al.*, 2000). These have been shown to inhibit cracking of metallic pipes used to transport petroleum and crude oils under sulfide stress (Anderson *et al.*, 1989). The textile and pad dyeing industry have used a formulation that included sophorolipids that replaced urea. Urea tended to accumulate in the wastewater and was less environmentally friendly (Schumacher *et al.*, 1998). Lastly,

sophorolipids have been us ed as a source of sophorose as an alternative to chemical synthesis of this disaccharide (Ernst *et al.*, 1994).

#### 1.2 Sophorolipids

#### 1.2.1 Structure and nomenclature

The elucidation of the sophorolipid structure has been the initial stumbling block into the study of sophorolipids. Aspects of this problem include the structure of the sophorose molecule, types of fatty acid tails, the site of hydroxylation on the fatty acid tail, and the macrocyclic lactone. Authors have used various methods in analyzing the structure of sophorolipids. Past analyses of sophorolipid structures often involved results of predictable and specific chemical reactions (Gorin *et al.*, 1961, 1962; Tulloch *et al.*, 1962, 1968; Tulloch and Spencer, 1967, 1972; Heinz *et al.*, 1969, 1970, Spencer *et al.*, 1979). Present structural analyses make less use of these reactions and rely on <sup>13</sup>C and <sup>1</sup>H 1D and 2D NMR, HPLC, GC, and MS in the elucidation of sophorolipid structure (Asmer *et al.*, 1988; Davila *et al.*, 1992, 1995, 1997, Bisht *et al.*, 1999; Nunez *et al.*, 2001).

Gorin *et al.* (1961) introduced the nomenclature of sophorolipids. However, most authors have used the nomenclature introduced by Davila *et al.*, 1993. (Table 1.1) shows the traditional as well as common nomenclature of major sophorolipids. Figure 1.1 matches the nomenclature with the structure of the corresponding sophorolipid. The sophorose molecule of the sophorolipid is not affected by different glucidic substrate (Esders and Light, 1972; Gobbert *et al.*, 1984). Glucose is the preferred substrate for the biosynthesis

of the sophorose molecule, although *C. bombicola* can grow in various carbohydrates. Glucidic substrates that have been used in the production of sophorolipids include glucose, sucrose, fructose, and mannose (Klekner *et al.*, 1991; Zhou and Kosaric, 1993; Gobbert *et al.*, 1984). Oleic acid is also the preferred fatty acid for the incorporation into the lipidic backbone of the sophorolipids, although other fatty acids and hydrocarbons can be incorporated into the lipidic backbone. More specifically, higher concentrations of oleic and stearic acids in the vegetable oil favored the production of diacetylated lactone sophorolipids (Davila *et al.*, 1994). Lastly, the site of the majority of the glycosidic bonding tended to occur on the penultimate carbon of the fatty acid with minor bonding occurring to the ultimate carbon (Gorin *et al.*, 1961, 1962; Tulloch *et al.*, 1962, 1968; Tulloch and Spencer, 1967, 1972; Heinz *et al.*, 1969, 1970, Spencer *et al.*, 1979).

Table 1.1 Nomenclature of major sophorolipids. (Davila et al., 1993). See Figure 1.1 for

structures.

Common	Traditional	Link
Sophorose	2-O-β-D-glucopyranosyl-β- D-glucopyranose	Fig1
Diacetylated acidic sophorolipids or acid 6' 6"- diacetate	17-L- ((2'-O-β-D- glucopyranosyl)-oxy)-9- octadecenoic acid 6', 6" diacetate	Fig 1A, R'=R"=Ac
Acetylated acidic sophorolipids or acid 6'-monoacetate	17-L- ((2'-O-β-D- glucopyranosyl)-oxy)-9- octadecenoic acid 6' monoacetate	Fig 1A, R'=Ac, R"=H
Non-acetylated acidic sophorolipids or acid sophorolipids	17-L- ((2'-O-β-D- glucopyranosyl)-oxy)-9- octadecenoic acid	Fig 1A, R'=R"=H
Diacetylated lactones or 1', 4"- lactone 6', 6"-diacetate	17-L- ((2'-O-β-D- glucopyranosyl)-oxy)-9- octadecenoic acid 1', 4"- lactone 6', 6" diacetate	Fig 1B, R'=R"=Ac
6'-acetylated lactones or 1', 4"- lactone 6'-monoacetate	17-L- ((2'-O-β-D- glucopyranosyl)-oxy)-9- octadecenoic acid 1', 4"- lactone 6' monoacetate	Fig1B, R'=Ac, R"=H
6"-acetylated lactones or 1', 4"- lactone 6"-monoacetate	17-L- ((2'-O-β-D- glucopyranosyl)-oxy)-9- octadecenoic acid 1', 4"- lactone 6" monoacetate	Fig 1B, R'=H, R"=Ac
Non-acetylated lactones or 1', 4"-lactone	17-L- ((2'-O-β-D- glucopyranosyl)-oxy)-9- octadecenoic acid 1', 4"- lactone	Fig 1B, R'=R"=H



**Figure 1.1** Structural classes of major (a) acid and (b) lactone sophorolipids. Note: R'= Ac or H; R" = Ac or H (Davila *et al.*, 1993). See Table 1.1 for nomenclature.

## 1.2.2 Sophorolipid composition

The literature data on the composition of sophorolipids produced by *C. bombicola* have been very sparse. The composition of sophorolipids is reported by the quantity of diacetylated or total lactones in the mixture, because lactones constitute the majority of sophorolipids produced in batch fermentations (Deshpande and Daniel, 1995; Klekner *et al.*, 1991; Zhou *et al.*, 1992; Zhou and Kosaric, 1995). In batch fermentations, the total lactones have been reported at 65 % of all sophorolipids extracted by ethyl acetate (Casas and Garcia-Ochoa, 1999). Moreover, there have been several reports on the diacetylated lactone composition of sophorolipids varying from 45 %, 65 %, 73 %, and 79 % of extracted sophorolipids (Deshpande and Daniels, 1995; Zhou *et al.*, 1991).

The effect of fed-batch fermentation on the composition of sophorolipids is also not well studied. Asmer *et al.* (1988) and Davila *et al.* (1992, 1993, 1994, and 1997) analyzed the composition of all lactones in fed-batch reactions. The diacetylated lactones and total lactone composition were 62 % and 74 %, respectively when glucose and oleic acid were used. In comparison, 40 % and 59 % as diacetylated and total lactones were produced when oleic acid only was used (Asmer *et al.*, 1988). Davila *et al.* (1993) observed the diacetylated lactones and total lactones were 51 % and 72 %, respectively, when ethyl esters of rapeseed oil were used. The use of *C. bombicola* batch and fed-batch fermentations both led to over 50 % lactone production. However, less convergence was observed with the absolute concentration of lactones between batch and fed-batch. More

over, different lactone concentrations were observed within the batch and fed-batch methods of production. The effect of the type of fermentation on the composition of sophorolipids was inconclusive.

Other parameters that have been studied with respect to their effects on the composition of sophorolipids in batch fermentations are aeration, inoculum density, temperature, pH, fermentation time, and yeast extract concentration. Higher rate of aeration favor greater production of sophorolipids, however varying aeration does not have a significant effect on the composition of the mixture (Casas and Garcia-Ochoa, 1999). A denser inoculum produced a higher concentration of sophorolipids in less cultivation time than less dense inoculum. However, sophorolipid composition after 8 days of batch fermentation was similar between cases of low and high inoculum densities (Casas and Garcia-Ochoa, 1999). Although the quantity of sophorolipids are optimum at 25 °C and 3.5 pH, the temperature and pH have no significant effect on the composition of the sophorolipid mixture (Davila *et al.*, 1997).

The elapsed time of cultivation during batch reaction also has conflicting effects on the composition of sophorolipid mixtures. In a medium used by Zhou *et al.* (1992), overall lactone composition did not change during cultivation. In contrast, the medium used by Casas and Garcia-Ochoa (1999) showed that longer fermentation times favored the production of lactones over acidic sophorolipids. Further analysis of the two studies suggests that medium containing mineral salts had a more stable production of lactones,

whereas medium a medium lacking these salts required more time to produce lactone sophorolipids.

Conflicting trends in lactone production are observed under batch conditions when yeast extract concentration is varied between 0.1 % and 2.0 %. Several groups observed that increasing yeast extract concentration from 0.1 % to 2.0 %led to an increase in the proportion of lactones in the sophorolipids. More specifically, Klekner *et al*. (1991) noticed an increase from 30 % to 79 % diacetylated lactones when ye ast extract was increased in the production medium containing sunflower oil. The variation of glucidic substrate between glucose and sucrose did not have an effect on the previous trend. Zhou *et al.*, (1992) noticed a similar trend when glucose and safflower oil were used for the glucidic and lipidic carbon sources, respectively. In comparison, one group observed a different trend, such that the total lactone composition decreased from 65 % to 10 % when yeast extract concentration was increased (Casas and Garcia-Ochoa, 1999). All authors used glucose and vegetable oil in the production medium. It is difficult to make direct comparisons between the different trends, considering only the total lactone composition was studied in Casas and Garcia-Ochoa (1999), while ignored by the other authors.

#### 1.2.3 Novel sophorolipids

The main driving force for the synthesis of novel sophorolipids has been the design of better biosurfactants. A biosurfactant can be commercially successful if it can be economically competitive with a comparable chemical surfactant, or if it possesses novel applications not found in commercially available chemical surfactants. Several authors have shown that a mixture of sophorolipids reduce the surface tension of water from 72 mN/m to 30 mN/m and interfacial tension between hexadecane and water to 1 mN/m (Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Rau *et al.*, 1996). Thus successfully modified sophorolipids would reduce the surface tension below 30 mN/m or the interfacial tension to 1 mN/m between water and other organic compounds.

In the literature, there are two general techniques for producing novel sophorolipids. One method of producing novel sophorolipids utilizes unique lipidic substrates such as primary alcohol, secondary alcohols and ketones (Brakemeier *et al.*, 1995; 1997; 1998). The second method uses the existing sophorolipids produced from a conventional lipidic substrates and enzymatic modification of the sophorolipid (Asmer *et al.*, 1988; de Koster *et al.*, 1995; Bisht *et al.*, 1999; Otto *et al.*, 1999; Rau *et al.*, 1999). Initial fermentation with alkanes and primary alcohols shorter than 16 carbons has been unsuccessful, because these compounds were metabolized by *C. bombicola* and the sophorolipids were synthesized *de novo* (Jones, 1968; Brakemeier *et al.*, 1995). Increasing the biomass concentration prior to addition of these compounds solved this problem. Optimum conditions were achieved when glucose and yeast extract concentrations were increased to 15 % and 0.4 % respectively. Secondly, stationary phase cultures were necessary for bioconversion (Brakemeier *et al.*, 1995).

The majority of novel sophorolipids produced from 1-dodecanol (88 %) and 2tetradecanol (78 %) was found to consist of the hydroxyl of the alcohol directly

incorporated into the glycosidic bond of the sophorose molecule. In some cases the ultimate or penultimate carbon of the alcohol was hydroxylated then incorporated into the sophorose molecule. Both novel sophorolipids were able to decrease the surface tension of water from 72 mN/m to 30 to 33 mN/m, thus making them comparable to commercial surfactants such as octylglycoside and beta-dodecylmaltoside (Brakemeier *et al.*, 1995 and 1997). The 2-, 3- and 4-dodecanone were used as co-substrates for novel sophorolipid production. The authors found that these ketones were reduced to the corresponding alcohol and incorporated directly into the sophorose molecule. Although the sophorolipid yields for 2- and 3-dodecanone were orders higher than 4-dodecanone (Brakemeier *et al.*, 1998).

The existing sophorolipids produced from conventional substrates are enzymatically modified in the second method. Di-acetylated lactone sophorolipids were converted to the de-acetylated form in the presence of acetyl esterase (EC 3.1.1.6). Unfortunately the reaction time was greater than 10 d. The maximum yield obtained was 30 %. A greater yield was not obtained, because the lactone ring and the glycosidic bonds were also attacked by the esterase (Asmer *et al.*, 1988). De Koster *et al.* (1995) re-visited the idea of removing acetyl groups from di-acetylated sophorolipids. Cutinase from the fungus *Fusarium solani* was used. Regioselective removal of the acetyl group from the 6' carbon was observed without affecting the lactone bond (de Koster *et al.*, 1995). Lipases from *Candida rugosa* and *Mucor miehei* were also found to remove the acetyl group from the 6' position without attacking the lactone bond. In this situation the reaction was complete after 48 h and 95 % conversion was obtained. The mono-acetylated lactone sophorolipid

had a similar critical micelle concentration as the di-acetylated form (de Koster *et al.*, 1995; Otto *et al.*, 1999). In contrast, the surface tension was not as effectively reduced by the mono-acetylated lactone sophorolipid in comparison to the di-acetylated form (Otto *et al.*, 1999).

Another attempt at enzymatic modification used the glycosidase called hesperidinase (EC 3.2.1.4). Of all the glycosidases tested the hesperidinase was observed to be the most successful at breaking the ether bond between 2' and 1" carbons (Figure 1.1). This reaction led to the release of one glucose molecule. The resulting glucolipid had very similar surface and interfacial properties as the acidic sophorolipids. In contrast, the glucolipid was less soluble in water than the acidic glycolipid (Rau *et al.*, 1999).

Lastly, an attempt at enzyme modification involved the lipase from *Candida antarctica* called Novozym 435. This enzyme was chosen after comparison with other lipases. Deacetylated acidic sophorolipids were first esterified to increase their solubility in organic solvents. Novozym 435 acetylated methyl esters of de-acetylated acidic sophorolipids in both 6' and 6" carbon positions. The acetyl donor used in this reaction was vinyl acetate. In contrast when vinyl acetate was removed from the reaction mixture, a different lactone was formed. The lactone bond was at the 6" carbon instead of the typical 4" (Figure 1.1). This lactone was a synthetic analogue of the one produced by *C. bombicola*. The conversion of this reaction was greater than 70 % (Bisht *et al.*, 1999). In comparison, *C. bombicola* naturally produced 6' or 6" lactones at less than 1 % of the total sophorolipids produced (Davila *et al.*, 1993).

# 1.3 Production of sophorolipids

Production of sophorolipids had been accomplished using various fermentation processes that include batch, fed-batch, continuous, self-cycling, two-stage, and resting cell methods. A wide range of sophorolipid yields was obtained under batch and fed-batch schemes of production (Table 1.2). All yields reported have used ethyl acetate to extract sophorolipids from the culture broth. The batch process had been used most commonly, because of its simplicity in comparison to the other processes. The main objective of all fermentation schemes had been to increase to overall yield of sophorolipids.

Table	1.2	Production	and yield	ds of sopl	norolipids	from	various au	thors.

Fermentation	Sophorolipids (g/L)	References
Batch	6.5 to 137	Albrecht et al. (1996), Asmer et al. (1988),
		Brakemeier et al. (1998), Casas and Garcia-
		Ochoa (1999), Cooper and Paddock, (1984),
		Deshpande and Daniels (1995), Garcia- Ochoa
		and Casas (1999), Gobbert et al. (1984), Ito and
		Inoue (1982), Ito et al. (1982), Klekner et al.
		(1991), Lee and Kim (1993), Zhou and Kosaric
		(1993 and 1995), Zhou et al. (1992)
Fed-batch	15 to 317	Asmer et al. (1988), Lee and Kim (1993),
		Brakemeier et al. (1995 and 1997), Davila et al.
		(1992 and 1997), Daniel et al. (1998a), Rau et al.
		(1996)
Continuous	94	Kim et al. (1997)
Resting Cells	15	Gobbert et al. (1984)
Two Stage	12 to 120	Daniel et al. (1998b and 1999), Otto et al. (1999)
Self-cycling	0.63	McCaffrey and Cooper (1995)

## 1.3.1 Batch fermentations

Batch fermentations of C. bombicola have been used as a convenient method of studying the nature of sophorolipid production. Moreover this approach involves the detailed study of some aspects of sophorolipid production by C. bombicola including the fermentation kinetics, alkane uptake, mass balances, and the production biochemical pathway. Authors have used batch reactions to study the fermentation kinetics of the sophorolipid production. Garcia-Ochoa and Casas (1999) proposed the use of an unstructured kinetic model for C. bombicola sophorolipid production under batch conditions. A medium containing glucose, food grade sunflower oil, and yeast extract was used. The authors based their model on three responses: biomass, glucose, and sophorolipids. It was assumed that the fatty acids from the vegetable oil were used for sophorolipids and the glycerol for maintenance energy. The model was fitted to experimental data by a nonlinear algorithm in conjunction with a Runge-Kutta routine. The authors validated the model by fitting the model to their own data and other authors (Asmer et al., 1988, Zhou et al., 1992, Lee and Kim, 1993, Lang and Wagner, 1993). Garcia-Ochoa and Casas (1999) calculated various C. bombicola parameters including  $\mu$  (0.14 h<sup>-1</sup>), generation time (7.1 h),  $C_{xm}$  (6.0 g/L),  $\mu_p$  (7.3 x 10<sup>-4</sup> g<sub>P</sub>L/g<sub>S</sub>g<sub>X</sub>/h), and  $Y_{P/S}$  (0.59 g<sub>P</sub>/g<sub>S</sub>) with respect to glucose. These values did not account for the effect of vegetable oil, despite the use of glucose and vegetable oil for sophorolipid production.

Ito and Inoue (1982) showed that sophorolipids played a role in the uptake of alkanes in C. bombicola. The authors showed that sophorolipids stimulated the growth of C. bombicola on alkanes with 10 to 20 carbons, but had no effect on fatty alcohol, fatty

acids, glucose and glycerol uptake. The authors suggested that sophorolipids are involved in alkane dissimilation by *C. bombicola* through some undetermined mechanism. The authors also suggested that sophorolipids were specific growth factors (Inoue and Ito, 1982). Under the batch reaction conditions used by Lee and Kim (1993) a carbon balance showed that 13 %, 37 % and 50 % of carbon input from oil and glucose went into the biomass, sophorolipids and carbon dioxide, respectively.

Using glucose as a sole carbon source, Albrecht *et al.* (1996) studied the biochemical pathways involved in the initiation of sophorolipid biosynthesis. In that study phosphate limiting conditions were used to induce the production of sophorolipids in batch fermentations. These authors noticed a correlation between initiation of sophorolipid production and the decline of the specific activities of NAD and NADP dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase of the tricarboxylic acid cycle. They also showed that isocitrate and citrate accumulated in the mitochondria due to the constant citrate synthase activity. Effectors and inhibitors tested had no effect on the two previous enzymes. The authors concluded t hat t he initiation of s ophorolipid production was regulated at the level of enzyme synthesis and not enzyme activity.

#### 1.3.2 Fed-batch

Various authors have studied fed-batch production of sophorolipids (Asmer *et al.*, 1988; Lee and Kim, 1993; Rau *et al.*, 1996; Daniel *et al.*, 1998a, 1998b; Davila *et al.*, 1992 and 1997). These reactions have been used mainly to increase yield of sophorolipids. Various feed rates were attempted to increase sophorolipid yields, however no consensus was
reached among different authors. The majority of authors, with the exception of Davila *et al.* (1997) used an arbitrary value for glucose and lipidic substrate feed rates. Davila *et al.* (1997) optimized the feeding rate of rapeseed ethyl esters to 1.75 mL/L/h and the glucose feed rate at greater than 0.6 g/L/h. Other authors used a wide range of lipidic and glucose substrate feed rates at 0.4 to 1.0 g/L/h and 0.6 to 2.0 g/L/h, respectively (Asmer *et al.*, 1988; Lee and Kim, 1993; Rau *et al.*, 1996; Daniel *et al.*, 1998a, 1998b).

In order to make comparisons between batch and fed-batch fermentations of different authors, the yield sophorolipids with respect to the consumption of oil and glucose was plotted (Figure 1.2). The highest amount of sophorolipids produced was obtained by fed-batch and was 317 g/L (Davila *et al.*, 1992 and 1997). In comparison the highest yield from batch was only 137 g/L. This figure also emphasized that fed-batch produced much higher levels of sophorolipids than the batch method. As indicated by several authors, the fermentation broth became extremely viscous at very high concentrations of sophorolipids. Moreover effective aeration and agitation became extremely difficult at high viscosity (Rau *et al.*, 1996; Daniel *et al.*, 1998a; Davila *et al.*, 1992 and 1997).



Figure 1.2 Production of sophorolipids from *C. bombicola*. Different authors conducted the batch and fed-batch fermentations. Lines are trends only. Batch fermentations: Albrecht *et al.* (1996), Asmer *et al.* (1988), Brakemeier *et al.* (1998), Casas and Garcia-Ochoa (1999), Cooper and Paddock (1984), Deshpande and Daniels (1995), Garcia-Ochoa and Casas (1999), Ito and Inoue (1982), Ito *et al.* (1980), Klekner *et al.* (1991), Lee and Kim (1993), Zhou and Kosaric (1993 and 1995), Zhou *et al.* (1992). Fed-batch fermentations: Asmer *et al.* (1988), Brakemeier *et al.* (1995 a nd 1997), Daniel *et al.* (1998a), Davila *et al.* (1992 and 1997), Lee and Kim (1993), Rau *et al.* (1996).

The efficiency of sophorolipid production can be analyzed by comparing the  $Y_{P/S}$  and yield of sophorolipids. The maximum  $Y_{P/S}$  was 0.93 with a sophorolipid concentration of 280 g/L obtained by Daniel *et al.* (1998a) (Figure 1.3). This figure also showed that the highest  $Y_{P/S}$  did not directly lead to the highest amount of sophorolipids produced, because much higher yields of 315 g/L were obtained with  $Y_{P/S}$  of 0.67. The study of Daniel *et al.* (1998a) differed from the others in that no glucidic substrate was used in the production of sophorolipids. Rapeseed oil was used as a main carbon source during growth of *C. bombicola* and production of sophorolipids. Secondly, the medium formulation was fount to contain very high concentrations of complex nitrogen in the form of cheese whey. The highest efficiency and product concentration of sophorolipids a compromise must be made when deciding between high levels of sophorolipids or high efficiency.



**Figure 1.3** The  $Y_{P/S}$  of batch and fed-batch fermentations of *C. bombicola*. The  $Y_{P/S}$  was calculated from the previous figure. Lines are trends only.

## 1.3.3 Other methods of sophorolipid production

There are other techniques used to produce sophorolipids included resting cells (Gobbert et al., 1984; Casas and Garcia-Ochoa, 1999), two stage fermentation (Daniel et al., 1999; Otto et al., 1999), continuous (Kim et al., 1997) and self-cycling (McCaffrey and Cooper, 1995: Weber, 2001). The latter two methods of production are not discussed in this review. Gobbert et al. (1984) developed the resting cell method. This technique utilizes a culture of C. bombicola harvested during stationary phase. The authors have shown that the growth medium need not contain any lipidic substrates to stimulate the production of sophorolipids. However, the inclusion of a lipidic substrate in the growth medium would induce higher production of sophorolipids, because two carbon sources are favored for sophorolipid production (Cooper and Paddock, 1984). The spent medium was removed and the cells were re-suspended in a nutrient-free buffer at pH 3.5. Glucidic and lipidic carbon sources were then added to the culture to produce sophorolipids. Depending on the method of carbon addition, the resting cell method can fall into the typical batch, fedbatch or continuous production of sophorolipids. In continuous production, the cell culture could be used as catalysts for sophorolipid production. Casas and Garcia-Ochoa (1999) claimed to have used the resting cell method for sophorolipid production. However, the authors re-suspended the C. bombicola culture in a nutrient-containing medium instead of a nutrient-free buffer. This variation led to further growth of the cultures when glucose and sunflower oil were added in batch fermentations. Their study is more akin to using a high inoculum density as oppose to the resting cell method. This method produced the high yields of sophorolipids. Maximum sophorolipids (120 g/L) were obtained in 8 d with  $Y_{P/S}$  of 0.60.

Daniel et al. (1999) developed the two-stage fermentation with C. bombicola and Cryptococcus curvatus in order to remove lactose from deproteinized whey. C. curvatus (ATCC 20509) is an oleaginous yeast capable of consuming lactose as a carbon source. This organism also produces single cell oil during the stationary phase. Deproteinized whey concentrate was used as the growth medium for C. curvatus fermentation during the first stage. The culture and single cell oil were then us ed as nut rient and c arbon sources for C. bombicola. Glucose was added to increase the amount of sophorolipids produced to 12 g/L (Daniel et al., 1999). The deproteinized whey was obtained from the cheese whey wastewater after proteins of commercial interest such as lactalbumin and lactoferrin were removed. Approximately 70 % of lactose was further removed from the whey by crystallization. After these steps, the deproteinized whey still contained lactose 50 g/L (Daniel et al., 1999). Zhou and Kosaric (1993, 1995) were able to produce sophorolipids from C. bombicola grown in medium containing deproteinized whey. However, Daniel et al. (1999) discovered that lactose was not consumed during the fermentation of C. bombicola. As a result the problem of lactose in the wastewater, could not be eliminated by the method of Zhou and Kosaric (1993, 1995).

### 1.4 Sophorolipid production conditions

1.4.1 Medium composition

Both glucidic and lipidic carbon sources are essential for the over production of sophorolipids (Cooper and Paddock, 1984). Very low quantities of sophorolipids are produced when a lipidic carbon source is not used (Gobbert *et al.*, 1984). The fatty acid tail of the sophorolipids is created *de novo* when glucose is used as the only substrate for

production (Albrecht *et al.*, 1996). In comparison the majority of lipidic substrates are directly incorporated into the fatty acid tail of the sophorolipids (Spencer *et al.*, 1979). Glucidic substrates that have been used in the cultivation of *C. bombicola* include glucose, sucrose, lactose, fructose, and mannose (Klekner *et al.*, 1991; Zhou and Kosaric, 1993; Gobbert *et al.*, 1984). Controversy surrounds the ability of *C. bombicola* to consume lactose. Zhou and Kosaric (1993 and 1995) were able to produce sophorolipids using lactose as the sole glucidic source. *C. bombicola* did not consume any lactose when sophorolipids were produced using medium containing deproteinized whey concentrate and lactose100 g/L (Daniel *et al.*, 1998). Another study also showed that *C. bombicola* cultures were unable to consume lactose (Spencer *et al.*, 1970).

The overproduction of sophorolipids tended to be favored by the inclusion of natural oils from plants and animals. Lipidic substrates that have been used in the batch production of sophorolipids include vegetable oils from canola, safflower, soybean, and sunflower (Zhou and Kosaric, 1993; Ito and Inoue, 1980, Ito *et al.*, 1982; Zhou *et al.*, 1992; Gobbert *et al.*, 1984; Lee and Kim, 1993; Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Klekner *et al.*, 1991; Casas and Garcia-Ochoa, 1999; Garcia-Ochoa and Casas, 1999). Animal fats have also been shown to be effective substrates for sophorolipid production (Deshpande and Daniels, 1995). Lipidic substrates used in fed-batch cultures were soybean oil, rapeseed oil, and rapeseed oil ethyl esters have been used (Rau *et al.*, 1996; Lee and Kim, 1993; Daniel *et al.*, 1998a, 1998b; Davila *et al.*, 1992, 1997). Oleic acid has also been used for overproduction of sophorolipids using both batch and fed-batch fermentation (Asmer *et al.*, 1988; Rau *et al.*, 1996).

Individual fatty acids, hydrocarbons and defined mixtures thereof have been used to test the feasibility of producing novel sophorolipids. The incorporation of fatty acids from palmitic to docosanoic acids (16 to 20 carbons) into sophorolipids was indirectly observed. A similar study was accomplished with hydrocarbons from tetradecane to docosane (14 to 20 carbons) (Tulloch *et al.*, 1962; Spencer *et al.*, 1979; Cavalero, 2001). Unfortunately, no structures were shown in the previous studies. Alcohols such as 1dodecanol, 2-dodecanol, 2-tetradecanol, 2-hexadecanol, 2,13-tetradecandiol, and 2,15hexadecandiol have all been successfully incorporated into sophorolipids (Brakemeier *et al.*, 1995; Brakemeier *et al.*, 1997; Lang *et al.*, 1995). Ketones such as 2-, 3- and 4dodecanones have also been incorporated into sophorolipids (Brakemeier *et al.*, 1998).

The nitrogen sources are chosen based on their low cost and novelty. The most common organic nitrogen source is yeast extract (Zhou *et al.*, 1992, Zhou and Kosaric, 1993; Lee and Kim, 1993; Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Casas and Garcia-Ochoa, 1999; Klekner *et al.*, 1991). A single organic nitrogen source is often used in the production medium (Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Garcia-Ochoa and Casas, 1999; Klekner *et al.*, 1991). Other sources of organic nitrogen are corn steep liquor and cheese whey from dairy wastes (Deshpande and Daniels, 1995; Zhou and Kosaric, 1993). Several authors have used inorganic nitrogen sources such as urea or ammonium in addition to the organic nitrogen (Zhou *et al.*, 1992; Zhou and Kosaric, 1993; Deshpande and Daniels, 1995; Lee and Kim, 1993). All of these authors, with the exception of Casas and Garcia-Ochoa (1999), have

included other minerals in the production medium such as iron, magnesium, potassium, calcium, sodium, chloride, phosphate, and sulfate.

# 1.4.2 Parameters for fermentation control

In order to maximize the production of sophorolipids several authors have manipulated the temperature, pH and dissolved oxygen concentration of the growth and production conditions of batch reactions. The growth of *C. bombicola* around 22 °C to 25 °C has been shown to produce the highest sophorolipids while using glucose and tall-oil fatty acids. Product formation rapidly decreased at temperatures above 30 °C (Spencer *et al.*, 1979). Gobbert *et al.* (1984) showed that optimum sophorolipid production for resting cells was at 21 °C. When *C. bombicola* batch cultures were grown at 25 °C and temperature was increased to 37 °C during the production phase, sophorolipids production was reduced from 317 g/L to 25 g/L (Davila *et al.* 1997). Nonetheless, it is still common practice to produce sophorolipids at 30 °C, because temperatures below 25 °C result in large cooling costs in industrial situation. A second drawback of lower temperatures is that some fats and oils solidify below 25 °C (Deshpande and Daniels, 1995).

The pH of a typical batch fermentation of *C. bombicola* drops from the initial medium pH 7.0 to 3.0 after 24 h of incubation. Deshpande and Daniels (1995) were able to increase the yield from 100 g/L to 120 g/L by maintaining the pH at 3.4 after 24 h, while reducing the maximum time of fermentation from 72 h to 68 h. Resting cells of *C. bombicola* at pH 3.5 showed the highest sophorolipids production when glucose was used as a carbon

source (Gobbert *et al.*, 1984). Using glucose and rapeseed oil esters in fed-batch Davila *et al.* (1997) showed that pH 3.5 was also optimal for sophorolipids production. An increase in pH from 3.5 to 5.0 decreased sophorolipids production from 317 g/L to 190 g/L. Increasing the pH from 5.0 to 8.0 led to cell lysis (Davila *et al.*, 1997). It appears that production of sophorolipids is favored at pH 3.5 for batch and resting cell conditions.

The amount of molecular oxygen in the liquid medium during sophorolipid production is significant. The oxygen atom used to hydroxylate the last or the penultimate carbon of the eighteen-carbon fatty acid used in sophorolipid production is obtained from the dissolved oxygen in the medium. Heinz *et al.* (1969) showed that <sup>18</sup>O-labeled molecular oxygen and not <sup>18</sup>O-labeled water was incorporated in the hydroxylated fatty acids of sophorolipids. With this in mind the rate of aeration in sophorolipid fermentation can greatly affect the amount of sophorolipids produced. Shaker speeds of 200 rpm to 450 rpm have been sufficient for sophorolipid production (Spencer *et al.*, 1979). For stirred tank fermenters 0.5 v/v/min to 2.0 v/v/min are sufficient for sophorolipids production (Deshpande and Daniels, 1995; Zhou and Kosaric, 1995).

# 1.4.3 Optimization of media formulations

The main objective in the creation of different media and their optimization has been to increase the yield of sophorolipids. Batch reaction is a convenient method for studying the effects of the production medium on the yield of sophorolipids. The chosen batch reactors for these studies are the shake flask and stirred tank batch reactor. In the growth medium, certain parameters are optimized to produce the highest density of *C. bombicola* 

in the least amount of time. Deshpande and Daniels (1995) optimized six parameters including glucose (1.5 % m/v), animal fat (0.5 % v/v), corn steep liquor (0.5 % m/v), urea (0.1 % m/v), and potassium phosphate (0.2% m/v). The maximum OD observed was 28.5 after 24 h of growth. Casas *et al.* (1997) optimized four parameters including glucose (1.2 % m/v), ammonium chloride (0.19 % m/v), potassium phosphate (0.74 % m/v), and magnesium chloride (0.02 % m/v). The authors of this study chose to keep several other medium parameters constant. Glucose and phosphate had the greatest effect on the biomass density. The glucose consumption rate was less at concentrations above 1.2 % (m/v) and required more than 30 h for complete consumption. In comparison cell density at 30 h increased when glucose concentration was increased to 1.2 % (m/v). Thus glucose at 1.2 % (m/v) with complete consumption in 30 h was optimal.

The optimization of the production medium generally involved altering a maximum of three variables including oil, glucose, and yeast extract. The ratio between each variable is optimized to produce the highest concentrations of sophorolipids. It should be noted that each study was independent of the other and the optimum production medium was achieved from the manipulation of the three said variables within the authors' medium formulation. All authors reached a common conclusion of using an m/m of 1 for oil and glucose, despite the use of different types of vegetable oils. The concentration of oil (v/v) and glucose (m/v) corresponded to approximately 10 % of the production medium. In contrast, no convergence seemed to have emerged between the concentrations of yeast extract. Within each study the authors varied the concentrations of yeast extract from 0 % (m/v) to 2.0 % (m/v) and chose the optimum concentration. Zhou *et al.* (1992) were the

most successful of the group, because their chosen concentration of yeast extract at 0.25 % (m/v) led to the overall highest sophorolipids yield of 13.7 % (m/v). A summary of the optimum ratios using this approach is shown in Table 1.3.

**Table 1.3** Summary of the optimization of the production medium by several authors.Compositions of oil and others are % v/v and % m/v, respectively.

Oil type	Oil	Glucose	Yeast extract	Sophorolipids	Reference
Sunflower	10	10	0.1	4.0	Casas and Garcia- Ochoa, 1999
Safflower	10.5	10	0.25	13.7	Zhou et al., 1992
Canola	10	10.5	0.4	8.0	Zhou and Kosaric, 1995
Safflower	10	10	0.5	7.0	Cooper and Paddock, 1984
Sunflower	9.5	10	1.0	4.5	Klekner <i>et al.</i> , 1991

## 2.0 Motivation and objective of thesis

The overall motivation for this thesis was to increase the commercial application of sophorolipids produced by *C. bombicola*. The trend in the production of sophorolipids has been to increase the yields of production. As indicated in Table 1.2 several methods of production exist and they show v arying de grees of s uccessfulness. H owever, no ne have focused on the purity of sophorolipids during these fermentations. The marketability of sophorolipids can further benefit from an increase in purity.

The objective of this thesis was to analyze the purity of sophorolipids. More specifically, the purity of sophorolipids and the composition changes of the sunflower oil fatty acids were analyzed during sophorolipid production. Other lipid products were observed within the sophorolipids. The composition and chemical structure of these lipid products were determined. The length of fermentation time required to establish a batch of sophorolipids with high purity was established. *C. b ombicola* was cultivated in b atch conditions. The medium formulation used to achieve this was s unflower o il, g lucose, yeast extract, and water. This medium was chosen for its few ingredients and ability to produce high production of sophorolipids.

### **3.0 Materials and Methods**

# 3.1 Culture cultivation

D. G. Cooper (McGill University, Montreal, Canada) kindly provided the *C. bombicola* (ATCC 22214) culture used in this work. Unless stated otherwise, all media components used were from the Difco brand (BD Diagnostic Systems, Sparks, US), all fine chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Poole, UK), and all glassware was obtained from Fisher Scientific (Leicestershire, UK). Reverse osmosis water was used in all aqueous solutions.

The *C. bombicola* cultures were transferred monthly in an YM plate agar: 2.1 % (m/v) YM and 1.5 % (m/v) technical agar. The YM agar plates were grown for 3 d at room temperature and stored at 4 °C. One loop of culture from the agar plate was used to inoculate the liquid growth medium. The liquid inoculum medium contained 2.1 % (m/v) YM broth (100 mL in 500 mL shake flask). Liquid cultures were grown in an incubator shaker (Innova shaker model 4300, New Brunswick Scientific, Edison, US) for 32 h at 30 °C and 200 rpm. The cell culture was harvested at late-log phase with a corresponding

OD of  $10 \pm 1.0$ , and 10 % (v/v) of the culture was then used to inoculate the production medium: 10 % (m/v) glucose, 10 % (v/v) food-grade sunflower oil (Canbra Foods Limited, Lethbridge, Canada), and 0.1 % (m/v) yeast extract. These cultures were grown in 100 mL of liquid medium in 500 mL shake flasks for 0 d to 20 d under similar conditions as the inoculum culture.

## 3.2 Biomass determination

The cell density of *C. bombicola* cultures was determined by two m ethods. The first method used was OD at 650 nm using the UV-visible recording spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan). For consistent readings, it was necessary to let the shake flask culture settle for 2 min. This allowed the oil, water and sophorolipid phases to separate. A sample of 500  $\mu$ L was taken from the middle water phase making sure not to disturb the oil and sophorolipid phases. The second method used was DCM. The DCM was determined after the sophorolipid producing cultures were washed with hexane followed by ethyl acetate. Samples of 5 mL were removed from the a queous phase and centrifuged at maximum speed for 5 min in the clinical centrifuge (IEC, Needham Heights, US). The pellet was dried at 80 °C for 24 h and mass determined gravimetrically.

## 3.3 Sunflower oil and sophorolipid extraction

This method was adapted from Ito *et al.* (1980). All organic and aqueous solvents were used at room temperature. The culture broth was extracted thrice with equal volumes of hexane in order to remove residual vegetable oil. The organic phase was retained for

further analysis. The culture broth was then extracted thrice with equal volumes of ethyl acetate. The ethyl acetate phase was retained for further analysis. Each solvent extraction lasted for 5 min. Crude sophorolipids were obtained after evaporation of ethyl acetate in a rotating evaporator at 40 °C (model B-480 and R-114, Buchi, Flawil, Switzerland) under reduced pressure. A water aspirator was used to reduce pressure to 20 kPa. Prior to filtration (qualitative filter #5, Whatman, Cambridge, UK), the sophorolipid suspension in ethyl acetate extract was mixed with anhydrous MgSO<sub>4</sub> to remove the water. The mass of the crude sophorolipids were determined gravimetrically and stored in a dessicator at room temperature. The spent culture broth was allowed to settle for 24 h and the residual sophorolipid phase was drained, lyophilized and retained for further analysis.

# 3.4 LC of sophorolipids

This method was adapted from Deshpande and Daniels (1995). The glass column used had an internal diameter of 2.5 cm, height of 76 cm and PTFE stopcock. The column was packed with glass wool and sand (height of 2 cm). Silica gel 50 g (Kieselgel 60, Fluka, Poole, UK) was suspended in hexane and loaded into the column. The hexane was drained to 0.5 cm above the silica gel. The column was loaded with 150 mL of chloroform and drained to replace the hexane phase. The 20 d sophorolipid mixture (1 g) was dissolved in ethyl acetate (5 mL) and loaded into the column. Fractions were eluted from the column by subsequent washes of 0 %, 5 %, 10 %, 15 %, and 50 % (all v/v) of methanol/chloroform at 150 mL/wash. A total of 6 consecutive runs were used to separate 6 g of sophorolipids, and similar fractions were pooled together. The solvent from each fraction was evaporated using the same method previously described.

## 3.5 Lyophilization (freeze drying) of sophorolipids

After ethyl acetate extraction, the residual sophorolipids in the production medium were shell frozen in a bath of dry ice and ethanol. The sophorolipids were lyophilized in the Freeze Mobile 24 (Virtis Company, Gardiner, US). Dried sophorolipids were stored in a dessicator at room temperature.

### 3.6 TLC of sophorolipids

This method was adapted from Asmer *et al.* (1988). Dried sophorolipids in ethyl acetate 10% (m/v) were made and 1 drop of acetic acid (using a Pasteur pipette) was added to each solution. Using a capillary tube, 1  $\mu$ L was spotted on each lane of the TLC silica gel (20 cm x 20 cm and 250  $\mu$ m layer, Whatman, Cambridge, UK). The plates were developed for 15 min using the eluting solvent: chloroform, methanol and water with a ratio of 65:15:2 (v/v/v). The TLC plates were allowed to dry at room temperature for 5 min. The detecting reagent used was g lacial a cetic acid, sulfuric a cid, *p*-anisaldehyde with a ratio of 100:2:1 (v/v/v) and sprayed onto the TLC plates. Sprayed plates were heated at 125 °C (isotemp vacuum oven, model 281A, Fisher Scientific, Leicestershire, UK) for 5 min. Sophorolipids appeared as dark spots, while other lipids and free fatty acids were light spots.

TLC analysis of the crude sophorolipids produced a spot labeled "G" immediately above the corresponding spot for di-acetylated lactone. The content of the TLC spot "G" was determined. Sophorolipids from 15 d of fermentation were separated using a preparative TLC plate (20 cm x 20 cm and 1 mm layer, Whatman, Cambridge, UK). The contents of the spot from the TLC was scraped and extracted thrice with a total of 6 mL of ethyl acetate. The ethyl acetate was evaporated and the contents were converted to FAME.

## 3.7 Alkaline hydrolysis (saponification) of sophorolipids

This method was adapted from Rau *et al.* (1999). Crude sophorolipid mixtures were saponified to obtain a large quantity of de-acetylated acidic sophorolipids. A 40 % suspension of sophorolipids was made in 100 mL of 5 M NaOH. The sophorolipids were suspended using a mild sonicating bath (Bransonic model 52, Branson Ultrasonic Corporation, Danbury, US) for 25 min. The sophorolipid suspension was then refluxed at 98 °C for 24 h in a glove heater (Glas-Col, Terre Haute, US) with a variable autotransformer (Staco Energy Products Company, Dayton, US). The temperature was monitored by a thermocouple (model 52, Supelco, Bellefonte, US).

The saponified sophorolipids were cooled to room temperature in a water bath and titrated with HCl to pH 4.0. An acidic pH was necessary to ensure the acidic sophorolipids were protonated. The aqueous phase was washed thrice with equal volumes of 1-pentanol. Acidic sophorolipids were obtained after evaporation of 1-pentanol in a water bath at 60 °C (model B-480 and R-114, Buchi, Flawil, Switzerland) under reduced pressure. A direct drive high vacuum pump (Marvac Scientific Company, Concord, US) was used to reduce pressure to 15 kPa. Residual 1-pentanol was further evaporated for 24 h in a vacuum oven (isotemp vacuum oven, model 281 A, Fisher Scientific, Leicestershire, UK) at 50 °C and 10 kPa.

The precipitate was suspended in 50 % (v/v) methanol/chloroform and centrifuged for 5 min in the clinical centrifuge (IEC, Needham Heights, US). Centrifugation was necessary to remove sodium chloride salts from the acidic sophorolipids. The 50 % (v/v) methanol/chloroform was then evaporated using the same set up as stated in the crude sophorolipid extraction.

3.8 FAME analysis of sunflower oil and contents of TLC spot "G"

The sunflower oil and hexane extracted sunflower oil were converted to FAME. The methylating agent used was 2 % sodium methoxide in methanol mixed with Skellysolve B (3/1, v/v) (Hougen *et al.*, 1973; F reedman *et al.*, 1986; B annon *et al.*, 1982). The reaction time was 30 min at 25 °C. The solution was washed with distilled water (1 mL). The organic phase was injected into the gas chromatograph (model Sigma 3B, Perkin-Elmer, Courtaboeuf, France) using a fused silica column (wax 10, 30 m x 0.53 mm, 1.0  $\mu$ m coating, Supelco, Bellefonte, US).

The method used to analyze the FAME from the contents of the TLC spot was adapted from Bressler and Fedorak (2001). The content of the TLC spot "G" was converted into FAME using diazomethane as the methylating agent. The contents were analyzed by GC-MS using a Hewlett Packard 5890 series II GC with a 5970 series mass detector and a 30 m DB-5 capillary column (J-W Scientific, Folsom, US). The GC temperature program used was 90 °C for 1 min and then 5 °C/min to 280 °C for 21 min (Bressler and Fedorak, 2001).

3.9 Surface and interfacial tension of acidic sophorolipids

Surface and interfacial tension measurements were made with a manual tension meter (Model 70545, Central Scientific Company, Franklin Park, US). A platinum ring (Model 70542, Central Scientific Company, Franklin Park, US) was used to measure the tension as the ring passed through the liquid-liquid and liquid-air interfaces. Measurements were made at room temperature between 22 °C and 24 °C. Reverse osmosis water (20 mL) and toluene (20 mL) were used for the aqueous and organic solutions respectively. The 100 mL beakers used for all measurements were soaked overnight in soapy water (Sparkleen, Fisher Scientific, Leicestershire, UK). All beakers were rinsed thrice in reverse osmosis water (73 mN/m) and water-toluene (36 mN/m) were used as references for the cleanliness of the beakers. The acid sophorolipids were dissolved in water and toluene for the surface and interfacial tension measurements respectively. Serial dilutions of different concentrations of these solutions were made prior to the measurements.

#### 4.0 Results

#### 4.1 Biomass and substrate determination

Two methods exist for measuring biomass of C. bombicola namely OD and DCM. The effect of solvent extraction on biomass was tested to determine the feasibility of using DCM to measure biomass. C. bombicola cultures were grown in YM broth for 3 d (Figure 4.1). The medium formulation and the length of fermentation did not lead to overproduction of sophorolipids. It was important to use conditions that did not lead to sophorolipid overproduction in order to accurately determine the effect of hexane and ethyl acetate extractions on biomass measurements. In the fermentation with C. bombicola, hexane was used to extract the vegetable oil from the liquid broth, followed by ethyl acetate to extract the sophorolipids. The DCM was determined before and after subjecting the cultures for oil and sophorolipid extraction. The data showed that the DCM reduced considerably after treatment with solvents (Figure 4.1). It should be noted the yaxis in this figure was plotted on an arithmetic scale to emphasize the differences in DCM. The ratio of DCM reduction was only constant during the stationary phase. Hexane and ethyl acetate were tested separately to determine which solvent had the most effect on the DCM. The analysis showed that ethyl acetate led to more significant reduction in DCM than hexane (Table 4.1). OD was used instead of DCM to measure biomass due to the detrimental effect of solvent extraction on biomass.



**Figure 4.1** DCM determination of *C. bombicola* grown in YM broth. Samples labeled "treated" were subjected to hexane and ethyl acetate extractions, whereas samples labeled "untreated" were not subjected to these solvents. Lines are trends only.

**Table 4.1** Effect of hexane and ethyl acetate extractions on the measurement of DCM of

 *C. bombicola.* A total of five samples were used for each extraction.

Extraction method	DCM (% m/v)	Deviation	
		(±)	
None	100	1	
Hexane only	98	2	
Ethyl acetate only	66	6	

Sunflower oil was used as the lipidic substrate for the production of sophorolipids. The sunflower oil was converted to FAME and analyzed for fatty acid composition during the production of sophorolipids. Sodium methoxide in methanol was used as the methylating agent. The FAME were subjected to GC and the concentration of each fatty acid was calculated from the total mass of sunflower oil. The majority of the oil was composed of (in increasing amounts) 18:2, 18:1, 16:0, and 18:0 fatty acids (Figure 4.2). It should be noted that the composition error was 0.01 %, and error bars were not observable. The remaining fatty acids constituted less than 5 % of the total (Figure 4.3).

The effect of hexane extraction on the composition of fatty acids within the sunflower oil was analyzed to determine any discrepancy with the extraction of oil on its composition. A 10% (v/v) heterogeneous mixture of sunflower oil with water was created to mimic the actual fermentation environment. The oil was extracted thrice with hexane at equal volumes to the aqueous phase. GC analysis showed that the effect of hexane on composition of the four major fatty acids was minimal (Figure 4.2). The order of magnitude of the four major fatty acids was unaffected by hexane extraction of the oil. The hexane extraction had an effect on five of the minor fatty acids, namely 16:1, 20:1, 20:2, 22:0, and 22:1 fatty acids (Figure 4.3). The hexane extract showed higher values for 16:1 and 20:1 than expected. In comparison lower values were observed for 20:2, 22:0 and 22:1 than expected.



Figure 4.2 Major fatty acids of sunflower oil used in the production of sophorolipids from *C. bombicola*.



**Figure 4.3** Minor fatty acids of sunflower oil used in the production of sophorolipids from *C. bombicola*.

# 4.2 Fermentation of C. bombicola

*C. bombicola* was grown in the inoculum medium to determine the ideal time for transfer into the sophorolipid production medium. The ideal time for transfer was set for the late exponential phase. One loop of *C. bombicola* was transferred from the solid medium into the inoculum broth, both containing YM. The cultivation temperature and agitation were  $30 \,^{\circ}$ C and 200 rpm, respectively. The cultures of *C. bombicola* were at exponential phase shortly after 0 d to 1 d (Figure 4.4). The late exponential phase was found to occur after 1.5 d of cultivation and corresponded to an OD of 10 (Figure 4.4). The maximum OD was approximately 20 and occurred after 2 d of growth. Overall the pH was reduced from 6.00 to 3.75 during the fermentation and slightly increased to 4.25 near the end of fermentation. A 10 % (v/v) cell culture was chosen for transfer into the production medium.



**Figure 4.4** Growth of *C. bombicola* in batch fermentation containing inoculum medium. Lines are trends only.

An inoculum transfer scheme was developed to ensure consistent and high production of sophorolipids. One streak of cell colonies from the YM agar plate was transferred into the YM broth (inoculum medium). After 36 h, 10 % (v/v) of the cell culture in the inoculum medium (OD of 10) was transferred into 100 mL/flask of the production medium containing yeast extract, glucose and sunflower oil. The cell cultures were grown in shake flasks for 0 d to 20 d. The cultivation temperature and agitation were similar for the inoculum and production cultures.

In the production medium, *C. bombicola* cultures grew rapidly from 0 d to 1 d, and the lag phase was less than the first sampling time (Figure 4.5a). OD increased from 1 d to 8 d at a slower rate than those observed from 0 d to 1 d. The cell cultures were in the stationary phase from 8 d to15 d, and OD decreased from 15 d to 20 d of fermentation. The corresponding pH decreased rapidly from 6.0 to 2.5 from 0 d to 2 d and remained at pH 2.5 (Figure 4.5a).

The production and consumption profiles of sophorolipids and oil were very similar (Figure 4.5b). Both profiles were nearly linear from 0 d to 8 d, and both have the highest rates at these time intervals. The rate of consumption and production decreased from 8 d to 20 d. The sunflower oil was completely consumed after 20 d of fermentation leading to a maximum sophorolipids production of 45 g/L (Figure 4.5b). It should be noted that the minimum concentration of sunflower detectable was 0.1 g/L.



**Figure 4.5** Growth of *C. bombicola* (a) and production of sophorolipids (b) in batch fermentation containing production medium with sunflower oil. Lines are trends only.

The fatty acid composition of sunflower oil was analyzed during the fermentation of *C. bombicola* in the production medium. The objective of the analysis was to determine if some were preferentially consumed over others. Fatty acids were not analyzed after 20 d of fermentation, because the hexane extraction yield was less than 0.1 g/L. The fatty acids 12:0, 14:0, 16:1, and 20:2 were not analyzed, because the overall concentration of each was less than 0.1 g/L. Each fatty acid concentration was normalized in order to compare the rate of consumption. The concentration of fatty acids 18:2, 18:1, 16:0, 18:0, 20:1, and 18:3 were normalized with respect to the initial concentration. The concentration of each, because values were detected above the initial concentration.

The order of the fatty acid consumption rates (lowest to highest) was 18:2, 18:1, 16:0, 18:0, 20:1, and 18:3 (Figure 4.6). These fatty acids were equally consumed after 15 d, and their concentrations after 20 d were below the detectable limit of 0.1 g/L. The consumption profiles of 16:0 and 18:1 fatty acids were very similar. The initial consumption rates of 18:2, 18:1, 16:0, 18:0, 20:1, and 18:3 fatty acids were reflective of their initial composition within the sunflower oil. More specifically, the order of initial composition values of fatty acids within the sunflower oil (highest to lowest) was 18:2, 18:1, 16:0, 18:0, 20:1, and 18:1, 16:0, 18:0, 20:1, and 18:3, and 18:2, 18:1, 16:0, 18:0, 20:1, and 18:3. Thus, the most abundant fatty acid (18:2) had the lowest initial rate of consumption, while the least abundant fatty acid (18:3) had the highest initial rate of consumption.



**Figure 4.6** Consumption of sunflower oil fatty acids during batch fermentation of *C*. *bombicola* in the production medium. Lines are trends only.

The consumption profiles of minor 20:0, 22:0, 22:1, and 24:0 fatty acids fluctuated during the production of sophorolipids (Figure 4.7). Overall, the concentrations of 20:0 and 22:1 fatty acids decreased from their initial values after 15 d despite the overall scatter. The concentration of 22:0 fatty acid increased to twice the initial value after 6 d, only to decrease to the initial value after 15 d. The 24:0 fatty acid increased considerably from 0 d to 15 d.



**Figure 4.7** Consumption some minor fatty acids of sunflower oil during batch fermentation of *C. bombicola* in the production medium. Lines are trends only.

#### 4.3 Sophorolipid recovery and characterization

### 4.3.1 TLC and LC of sophorolipids

C. bombicola was grown in the production medium for 20 d to study the nature of sophorolipid production. TLC was used to analyze the composition of the sophorolipids during the fermentation. It should be noted that each sample on the TLC corresponds to an initial load of 50  $\mu$ g. A sample load less than 50  $\mu$ g was not detectable, while greater than 50 µg led to over loading of the TLC plate. The R<sub>f</sub> of the spots was not absolute and the values tended to float depending on the length of separation. The spots A to D and E to F (Figure 4.8) corresponded to lactones and acidic sophorolipids, respectively. The structures of A, B, C, D, E, and F have been previously determined, and corresponded to diacetylated lactone, 6"-acetylated lactone, non-acetylated lactone, a mixture of lactones with the ester bond at the 6'or 6" positions, 6'-acetylated acidic sophorolipids, and nonacetylated acidic sophorolipids (Asmer et al., 1988). The composition of sophorolipids did not change dramatically from 2 d to 15 d of fermentation. The spot "G" was present within the sophorolipid mixture during days 2 d to 15 d of fermentation (Figure 4.8). This indicated that the sophorolipid mixture contained other impurities during the fermentation. This spot was not detected after 20 d of fermentation leading to a purer mixture of sophorolipids.

After four ethyl acetate extractions, a sophorolipid phase was still present at the bottom of the separatory flask. A total of four extractions with ethyl acetate did not remove this phase. The remaining sophorolipid phase was allowed to settle, lyophilized and measured gravimetrically. The amount of this phase was approximately 25 % of the sophorolipids extracted by ethyl acetate. TLC was used to analyze the composition of lyophilized and ethyl acetate extracted sophorolipids (Figure 4.9). The intensity of the spots provided a clue to the composition of the lyophilized sample. The TLC of this sample showed that some spots had the same  $R_f$  values as lactones B to D. Moreover a large proportion of this had similar  $R_f$  values to acidic sophorolipids E and F. TLC did not separate an even larger proportion.



Figure 4.8 TLC of sophorolipids during batch fermentation of *C. bombicola* in the production medium.



Figure 4.9 TLC of ethyl acetate extracted (a) and lyophilized (b) sophorolipids.

The composition of lactones within the ethyl acetate extracted sophorolipids was analyzed after 20 d of fermentation. LC separated the 20 d sophorolipids (6 g total) into five fractions and each fraction was analyzed gravimetrically and by TLC (Table 4.2 and Figure 4.10). The LC separated the lactone sophorolipids (A to D) well, but was ineffective in the separation the acidic sophorolipids. The first three fractions (0 % to 10 % methanol in chloroform) were sufficient to elute the majority of lactones. The total proportion of the lactones was calculated from the summation of the first three fractions and accounted for approximately 80 % of the ethyl acetate extracted sophorolipids. The actual yield is likely higher, because some of the lactones remained within the last two fractions.

Table 4.2 Mass composition of sophorolipids in each LC fraction.

Fraction	Methanol/Chloroform (% v/v)	Mass (% m/m)
1	0	1
2	5	9
3	10	69
4	15	19
5	50	2



Figure 4.10 TLC of the 20 d sophorolipid mixture separated by the LC.

4.3.2 TLC and GC analysis of the contents of spot "G"

The 18:1 and 18:0 fatty acids were observed to be soluble and immiscible in ethyl acetate, respectively. The  $R_f$  values of 18:1 fatty acid and sophorolipids were compared. Spot "G" had an  $R_f$  value similar to 18:1 fatty acid providing a clue to its chemical nature (Figure 4.11). From this result, 18:1 fatty acid was used as the standard for the GC analysis of the spot "G".



Figure 4.11 TLC of sophorolipids (a) and 18:1 fatty acid (b).

Sophorolipids from 15 d were loaded onto the preparative TLC and separated. Contents of spot "G" were scraped from the silica plate and eluted in ethyl acetate with flash LC. Diazomethane was used to convert the 18:1 fatty acid standard and spot "G" into FAME (Bressler and Fedorak, 2001). FAME was analyzed by GC-MS. The 18:1 FAME had a retention t ime of 31. 18 m in (Figure 4. 12a). GC analysis of the contents of spot "G" showed at least nine different peaks (Figure 4.12b). Each peak was numbered in order of retention time. There were likely more peaks, because the GC did not separate peaks eight and nine very well. Peak five had a retention time of 31.11 min and was the closest to the 18:1 FAME. The area of each peak was used to compare the composition of the volatilized FAME. Peak five corresponded to 7 % of the sample and the peaks eight and nine constituted 78 % of the total volatilized FAME (Table 4.3). The GC analysis showed that spot "G" was found to contain other lipids and one of which (peak five) had a very similar retention time to the 18:1 FAME.

Peak	Retention time (min)	Area (%)
1	26.93	1.31
2	27.05	0.52
3	27.53	5.20
4	30.99	1.85
5	31.11	6.80
6	31.51	1.69
7	31.84	4.19
8	33.48	48.41
9	38.48	30.03

Table 4.3 Retention times and areas of the spot "G" FAME.



Figure 4.12 GC of methylated 18:1 (a) and spot "G" FAME (b).

4.3.3 GC-MS of components extracted from spot "G"

The mass spectrum of each peak in Figure 4.12 was determined and compared to the database. High database matches were observed for peaks four (99 %), five, (99 %) and six (90%). However, the structures of the remaining six peaks were undetermined, due to low matches with the database. Mass spectra of 18:1 FAME (Figure 4.13) and peak five (Figure 4.14) were determined. The base peak and parent ion for both were similar at m/z 55 and 296 respectively. Large fragments with m/z of 264, 222, and 180 were detected for both. This led to the conclusion that peak five was 18:1 FAME. Peak four matched closely to 18:2 FAME. The mass spectrum of peak four was determined and compared to 18:2 FAME (Figure 4.15 and Figure 4.16). The base peak and parent ion of both were similar of m/z 67 and 294 respectively. Large fragments of m/z 263, 234, 164, and 150 were detected. This led to the conclusion that peak four was likely 18:2 FAME.






Figure 4.14 MS of peak five.



Figure 4.15 MS of 18:2 FAME (database).





Peak six had a match of 90 % with 16-methylheptadecanoic acid methyl ester. However, the MS of peak six was compared to 18:0 FAME instead (Figure 4.18 and Figure 4.19), because the molecular weight of 18:0 FAME and 16-methyl heptadecanoic acid are similar at 298 g/mol. Moreover, branched chain fatty acids are not found in sunflower oil (Gunstone *et al.*, 1986). The base and parent ion peaks of 18:0 FAME and peak six were similar at m/z 74 and 298, respectively. Large fragments of m/z 255, 199 and 143 were detected. The intensities of fragments at m/z 55 (30 %), 87 (55 %), 143 (10 %), 199 (5 %) and 255 (5 %) matched were similar for 18:0 FAME and peak six. Thus the structure of peak six was tentatively identified as 18:0 FAME.









The 20 d sophorolipids containing both lactonic and acidic sophorolipids were converted to acidic sophorolipid by alkaline hydrolysis. Acidic sophorolipids were favored as starting material for semi-synthetic biosurfactants. The surface and interfacial properties of the acidic sophorolipid mixtures were determined in order to provide a starting point for these modifications.

CMC is one criterion used to evaluate the effectiveness of surfactants. CMC is the minimum concentration of surfactants required to form micelles, and corresponds to a sharp drop in the measured interfacial tension (Young and Coons, 1945). The CMC of the acidic sophorolipids was between 70 mg/L to 80 mg/L, and the minimum surface tension was 37 mN/m (Figure 4.19). In comparison acidic sophorolipids reduced the interfacial

tension between water and toluene from 36 mN/m to 2 mN/m (Figure 4.20). The CMC for toluene-water interface was between 90 mg/L to 100 mg/L. These results indicated that acidic sophorolipids were very effective interfacial tension reducers, while the opposite was true for surface tension. The overall solubility of acidic sophorolipids in water and toluene were very high in the order of 100 mg/L.



**Figure 4.19** Surface property of acidic sophorolipids from *C. bombicola*. Lines are trends only.



**Figure 4.20** Interfacial property of acidic sophorolipids from *C. bombicola*. The interfacial tension was measured between water and toluene. Lines are trends only.

# **NOTE TO USERS**

Page(s) not included in the original manuscript and are unavailable from the author or university. The manuscript was scanned as received.

61

This reproduction is the best copy available.



#### **5.0 Discussion**

#### 5.1 Fermentation of C. bombicola

The nature of sophorolipid production has been compared to secondary metabolites, because *C*. *bombicola* c ultures a re c apable of p roducing these compounds during the stationary phase. Secondly, cells of *C*. *bombicola* in a nitrogen free medium have been shown capable of producing sophorolipids. These cultures are called resting cells (Gobbert *et al.*, 1984). In batch fermentations, sophorolipids are produced when the growth medium containing glucidic and lipidic carbon sources is depleted of nitrogen (Asmer *et al.*, 1988). Although not as common, sophorolipids have been produced under depletion of inorganic phosphate in the growth medium (Albrecht *et al.*, 1996).

An extended batch fermentation time of 20 d was used to analyze the later stages of cell growth, sophorolipid production and composition. The stationary phase of *C. bombicola* was reached after 2 d of growth in the inoculum medium. In comparison, the OD in the production medium continued to increase after 2 d of growth (Figure 4.5), likely due to the accumulation of sunflower oil and sophorolipids in the cell. Hommel *et al.* (1994) observed the accumulation of oil in the cytoplasm of similar yeast called *Candida apicola.* Zhou and Kosaric (1993) observed the presence of intracellular sophorolipids. OD decreased from 30 to 20 between 15 d and 20 d indicating that biomass has decreased after 15 d of fermentation. Decrease in OD has not been noted in batch fermentations of *C. bombicola*, because these are typically in the order of 3 d to 8 d (Klekner *et al.*, 1991, Lee and Kim, 1993, Garcia-Ochoa and Casas, 1999, Zhou *et al.*, 1992). Longer times of 12.5 d and 25 d have been noted for fed-batch fermentations (Daniel *et al.*, 1998a, Daniel

*et al.*, 1998b). Biomass did not decrease below the stationary phase under these fermentation conditions, likely due to abundance of carbon source for cell energy maintenance. The decrease in pH from 6 to 3 observed in Figure 4.5 is typical of fermentations associated with *C. bombicola* (Asmer *et al.*, 1988, Deshpande and Daniels, 1995, Garcia-Ochoa and Casas, 1999, Ito and Inoue, 1980, Klekner *et al.*, 1991, Zhou *et al.*, 1992). The reduction of pH is partially due to secretion of citrate and isocitrate into the medium (Albrecht *et al.*, 1996). Acidic sophorolipids, acetic acid and other free fatty acids contribute to further pH reduction.

Garcia-Ochoa and Casas (1999) did not account for the consumption of sunflower oil in their unstructured kinetic model, because it was based on only three responses that included glucose, biomass and s ophorolipids. S unflower o il c onsumption (Figure 4. 5) was determined in this study to show that the fate of vegetable oil in *C. bombicola* fermentation was an important factor in sophorolipid production. Any mathematical model of sophorolipid production would have to account for the fate of the lipidic substrate used, because the lipidic substrate directly determines the fatty acid backbone of sophorolipids (Davila *et al.*, 1994, Gorin *et al.*, 1961, 1962; Tulloch *et al.*, 1962, 1968; Tulloch and Spencer, 1967, 1972; Heinz *et al.*, 1969, 1970, Spencer *et al.*, 1979). The maximum rates of sophorolipid production and oil consumption were between 0 d to 8 d. The depletion of sunflower oil after 8 d likely led to a decrease in the rate of sophorolipid production.

The consumption profiles of several fatty acids were analyzed in this work (Figure 4.6 and Figure 4.7). The motivations for these analyses were to provide new data for future models and to determine if any of the fatty acids were favored for consumption within the sunflower oil. The 18:1 fatty acid is favored for the production of sophorolipids (Asmer *et al.*, 1988). More specifically, production of diacetylated lactones tended to be favored by vegetable oils with high content of 18:0 and 18:1 fatty acids (Davila *et al.*, 1994). Results in this work showed that initial preference of *C. bombicola* for fatty acids within the sunflower oil were largely determined by their abundance in the production medium (Figure 4.6). High initial rates of consumption tended to favor the least abundant fatty acids. However, the normalized concentrations of fatty acids after 15 d were all similar indicating that despite high initial rates, the overall consumption rate of fatty acids was the same. This outcome was unexpected, because all fatty acids were expected to have similar rates of consumption, if bulk consumption of the sunflower oil was occurring. Further experimentation would have to be done to test the validity of this result.

Concentrations of some fatty acids appeared to fluctuate greatly during the production of sophorolipids (Figure 4.7). In this figure the concentrations of the fatty acids were normalized to  $C_{max}$  instead of  $C_0$ , because the concentration of some fatty acids (24:0 and 22:0) were higher after 0 d. The initial concentration of 24:0 fatty acid was below the detection limit at 0 d, but increased from 0 d to 15 d of sophorolipid production. The level of 22:0 fatty acid increased from 0 d to 6 d and decreased to the initial level after 15 d. The increases in both fatty acids could not be attributed to error, because their concentrations after 0 d were above the detection limit. Thus increases in 22:0 and 24:0

and fluctuations in 20:0 and 22:1 observed in Figure 4.7 is likely due to cellular production. More specifically, the extraction of sunflower oil was also extracting some fatty acids associated with *C. bombicola*.

The possible sources of the fluctuations in 20:0, 22:0, 22:1, and 24:0 fatty acids were not determined, but three possible sources of these fatty acids are cytoplasm, lipid membrane and the extracellular environment. Hexane extraction did not show a significant reduction in biomass (Table 4.1), when *C. bombicola* was grown in the absence of sunflower oil, indicating that the methodology used did not produce leaky cells. Other authors have also shown that hexane tended to partition in the center of lipid bilayers (White *et al.*, 1981). Therefore it is unlikely that the fatty acids obtained from hexane extraction were from the cytoplasm of *C. bombicola*. The fatty acids are likely associated with the cell membrane or found in the extracellular medium.

A probable explanation for the increase in 22:0 and 24:0 fatty acids is that *C. bombicola* produces these fatty acids in response to the stress presented by the sophorolipids and other organic acids present in the production medium. Natural lipophilic solvents such as vegetable oils are not toxic to whole cells (Heipieper *et al.*, 1994). However, acids and alcohols can increase the fluidity of the cell membrane. Examples of organic compounds that can be found in the *C. bombicola* production medium are sophorolipids, fatty acids, citric acid, acetic acid, and glycerol (Albrecht *et al.*, 1996). Adaptation of microorganisms such as *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas putida* to hydrocarbons have been to increase the rigidity of the cell membrane by such methods as increasing cis-

mono unsaturated fatty acids and length of fatty acid chains (Heipieper *et al.*, 1994). This explanation would also be consistent with observations of baker's yeast grown in medium containing isooctane (Kawamoto *et al.*, 2001). The authors discovered that the composition of the lipid membrane of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* changed in response to the stress presented by isooctane. More specifically the rigidity of the cell membrane increased in r esponse t o the p resence o f is ooctane. L astly, t hese authors s howed that changes in the fatty acid composition of the yeast lipid membrane led to an increase in tolerance of these yeasts in environments containing hydrocarbons. Thus *C. bombicola* cells could be adapting to the stress presented by several organic compounds mentioned above by increasing the rigidity of the cell membrane. I ncreasing the content of long chain fatty acids such as 22:0 and 24:0 during the growth is one mechanism to increase the rigidity of the cell membrane.

#### 5.2 Biomass determination and product yield coefficients

Ethyl acetate had a significant effect on the measurement of DCM of *C. bombicola*. More specifically, ethyl acetate was shown to cause leakiness of *C. bombicola* cell membranes leading to a reduction in biomass (Table 4.1 and Figure 4.1). Sophorolipids are found intracellularly (Zhou and Kosaric, 1993), making the DCM measurement of biomass inaccurate if done prior to sophorolipid extraction. The measured biomass in this study was reduced by 34 % after the liquid broth was extracted with ethyl acetate. The effect of solvent extraction on the biomass was comparable to the results of Lee and Kim (1993). These authors found a reduction of 22.4 % in biomass after extraction with ethyl acetate. OD was used to measure biomass during the fermentation of *C. bombicola* in the

inoculum and production medium, because DCM would not have been more accurate than OD. It was also possible to estimate a crude biomass measurement of *C. bombicola* after 20 d of cultivation by using the correlation that OD 20 is equivalent to 6 g/L of biomass. This correlation was directly deduced from Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.4. A future consideration for estimating the biomass of *C. bombicola* would be to use its protein content, because sophorolipids do not have nitrogen.

One focus of this study was to understand the nature of sophorolipid production. Several authors have studied various production techniques in increasing sophorolipid production (Table 1.2). The growth and production conditions used in this study were based on the work of Garcia-Ochoa and Casas (1999). These conditions were chosen for the simplicity of the production medium that contained glucose, sunflower oil, yeast extract, and water. More importantly, high sophorolipid production was possible, as long as the production medium contained both glucidic and lipid carbon sources. There were very few differences from the experimental set up and those of the previous authors. The differences in this study were such that YM was used as the inoculum medium, cultures were cultivated in shake flasks and OD was used to measure biomass during the fermentation of *C. bombicola*.

The production of sophorolipids in batch fermentations has a typical range of 6.5 g/L to 137 g/L (Table 1.2). The sophorolipid and biomass yields in this study were 45 g/L and 6 g/L, respectively. The majority of authors have increased the overall yield of sophorolipids by manipulating the formulation of the growth and production medium.

Other production conditions such as pH control, aeration and agitation have also been studied. Nonetheless a wide range of production levels exists, despite the optimization of sophorolipid production.

Yield coefficients can be used to determine the fate of particular carbon based substrates in fermentations. In fermentations with secondary products (sophorolipids), the simplest relationship indicates that all substrates consumed end up in biomass, product and carbon dioxide shown by Equation 5.1 (Bailey and Ollis, 1985; Lee and Kim, 1993; Garcia-Ochoa and Casas, 1999). The limitation of this equation is other possible products are lumped into biomass, sophorolipids or carbon dioxide. For example, citrate and acetate are excreted into the production medium by C. bombicola (Albrecht et al., 1996), but are not any of the three variables mentioned in above. As shown in this study, a large mass equivalent to 25 % of extracted sophorolipids was not extracted by ethyl acetate. This unaccounted mass would be lumped into the variable not analyzed to satisfy the equation, in this case the yield coefficient of carbon dioxide. Despite these limitations, Equation 5.1 can be used to compare the  $Y_{P/S}$  and  $Y_{X/S}$ . However, caution is necessary when this equation is used to obtain  $Y_{CO2/S}$ . An interesting trend occurred when  $Y_{P/S}$  and  $Y_{X/S}$  of different authors were plotted. Yield coefficients of C. bombicola in batch fermentations were obtained from several studies (Ito et al., 1980 Ito and Inoue, 1982; Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Zhou et al., 1992, Zhou and Kosaric, 1993; Lee and Kim, 1993; Deshpande and Daniels. 1995; Garcia-Ochoa and 1999). Casas,

Equation 5.1 Mass balance of yield coefficients

$$Y_{\frac{p}{s}} + Y_{\frac{x}{s}} + Y_{CO_{2}} = 1$$

$$Y_{\frac{p}{s}} = \frac{mass\_sophorolipids\_produced}{mass\_substrate\_consumed}$$

$$Y_{\frac{x}{s}} = \frac{mass\_biomass\_produced}{mass\_substrate\_consumed}$$

$$Y_{CO_{2}} = \frac{mass\_carbon\_dioxide\_produced}{mass\_substrate\_consumed}$$

The comparison of the  $Y_{P/S}$  and  $Y_{X/S}$  produces a simple correlation that describes the overall result of each study involving batch fermentation of sophorolipids (Figure 5.1). In this study the  $Y_{P/S}$  and  $Y_{X/S}$  were 0.25 and 0.033 respectively. Other restrictions applied to this correlation are such that both lipidic and glucidic carbon sources are necessary and an organic nitrogen source is included in the medium. The lipidic source is from nature such as vegetable oils or animal fats. Glucose is used for the glucidic carbon source. The inoculum for the production medium must be a fixed volume from a liquid growth medium and not a loop of cells from an agar plate as used by Klekner *et al.* (1991). The use of a single loop of cells led to a much lower  $Y_{P/X}$  value of 0.57 (Klekner *et al.*, 1991). This low  $Y_{P/X}$  indicates that a higher biomass of *C. bombicola* was produced than sophorolipids. Other parameters such as pH, aeration, agitation, temperature, inorganic nitrogen, other trace minerals used by different authors do not need to be similar for this correlation to be valid.



Figure 5.1  $Y_{P/S}$  and  $Y_{X/S}$  for batch fermentations of *C. bombicola*. No te: (1) Garcia-Ochoa and Casas (1999), (2) Ito *et al.* (1980), (3) Ito and Inoue (1982), (4) Cooper and Paddock (1984), (5) Lee and Kim (1993), (6) and (7) Deshpande and Daniels (1995) without and with pH control, (8) Zhou and Kosaric (1993), (9) Zhou *et al.* (1992), (10) this study.

The regression in Figure 5.1 shows that  $Y_{P/X}$  is 3.7. More importantly this indicates that the increase in sophorolipids achieved by each author is the direct result of an increase in the biomass produced by C. bombicola in the production medium. This idea is not novel for batch fermentations of a microorganism in the same medium and batch fermentation conditions (Pirt, 1975). More specifically, several authors have increased the sophorolipid yield within the constraints of their medium formulations by simply increasing the glucose concentration and oil in the production medium (Casas and Garcia-Ochoa, 1999 Cooper and Paddock, 1984, Klekner et al., 1991, Spencer et al., 1979, Zhou and Kosaric, 1995, Zhou et al., 1992). Increasing the concentration of the carbon sources has been one aspect of the optimization of the production medium of C. bombicola. Nonetheless, a comparison between optimized production media led to various sophorolipid yields from as low as 4 % (m/v) to as high as 13.7 % (m/v) (Table 1.3). The application of Equation 5.1 to generate Figure 5.1 is unique in this work. because all studies analyzed have essentially their own unique medium formulation, growth and production conditions. This correlation shows that optimization of the production medium is not as essential as increasing the biomass prior to sophorolipid production.

# 5.3 Extraction of sophorolipids and sunflower oil

The liquid broth of *C. bombicola* during the over production of sophorolipids was composed of three phases (from top to bottom): oil, water and sophorolipid. Two different solvents were necessary to extract the oil and sophorolipids from the mixture. Tulloch and Spencer (1972) were the first to use ethyl acetate to extract sophorolipids

from C. bombicola. Ito et al. (1980) improved this technique and used hexane to extract any unconverted oil prior to extraction with ethyl acetate. Oil is very soluble in hexane, while the sophorolipids were very soluble in ethyl acetate. Each compound was poorly soluble in the other solvent. Several authors used and adapted the method of Ito et al. (1980) (Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Inoue and Ito, 1982; Ito and Inoue, 1982; Lee and Kim, 1993; Deshpande and Daniels, 1995; Casas et al., 1997; Casas and Garcia-Ochoa, 1999). Other authors used different solvents to extract oil and sophorolipids from the biomass. Asmer et al. (1988) used a mixture of ethanol, butanol and chloroform (10/10/1, v/v/v) to remove the oil and sophorolipids from the aqueous phase. Zhou et al. (1992) used m ethanol and c hloroform (10/1, v/v), while Rau et al. (1996) used ethanol and butanol (1/1, v/v). Most authors have not accounted for the effects of solvent extraction on the measurements of oil, biomass and sophorolipids. Lee and Kim (1993) were the exception, because the authors accounted for the effect of ethyl acetate on the biomass. The solvent extraction led to a 22.4 % loss in t he measured b iomass (Lee and K im, 1993).

After four extractions with ethyl acetate, a sophorolipid phase was still present in the liquid broth. TLC analysis of this phase showed that some spots had  $R_f$  values similar to acidic sophorolipids (Figure 4.9). Acidic sophorolipids were found to be poorly soluble in ethyl acetate. However, a large proportion of this phase was not separable by the TLC method used. Gravimetric analysis indicated that the content of this phase was equivalent to 25 % of the ethyl acetate extracted sophorolipids. The results in this study indicated that ethyl acetate was biased towards lactone sophorolipids. Some acidic sophorolipids

are likely not extracted by ethyl acetate. Ideally, one solvent would suffice to extract both lactone and acidic sophorolipids. Lactone sophorolipids are more hydrophobic than acidic sophorolipids (Gorin *et al.*, 1961, 1962). This difference in chemical properties of lactone and acidic sophorolipids make it improbable to use one solvent for the extraction of all types of sophorolipids. In this study, the remaining sophorolipid phase that was insoluble in ethyl acetate was simply lyophilized. This method would be inadequate to select against water-soluble organics such as glucose and sophorose that are also soluble with acidic sophorolipids. The use of two solvents for the extraction of sophorolipids in succession is an option. In conjunction with ethyl acetate, pentanol can be used afterwards to extract the remaining acidic sophorolipids. Pentanol had been previously shown to favor the extraction of acidic sophorolipids over lactone sophorolipids (Deshpande and Daniels, 1995).

The use of hexane to extract the sunflower oil was found to be sufficient. The majority of the sunflower oil contained mainly 18:3, 18:1, 16:0, and 18:0 fatty acids. The measured composition of the major fatty acids in the sunflower oil was minimally affected by hexane extraction. The total minor fatty acids was less than 5 % of the sunflower oil. The effect of hexane on the composition of the minor fatty acids was studied, because future studies on the consumption of oil would have to account for the fate of all fatty acids. The minor fatty acids affected were 16:1, 20:1, 20:2, 22:0, and 22:1 fatty acids. The hexane extract showed higher values for 16:1 and 20:1 fatty acids than expected. In comparison lower values were observed than expected for 20:2, 22:0 and 22:1. These results indicated that hexane had a slight bias with the five minor fatty acids.

## 5.4 Purity of sophorolipids and FAME analysis

Asmer *et al.* (1988) first published the TLC of sophorolipids. The mixture of sophorolipids observed in this study was identified according to Asmer *et al.* (1988). As discussed above, the use of ethyl acetate for sophorolipid extraction was biased towards extracting lactonic sophorolipids (Figure 4.9). Thus it was not surprising that the majority of sophorolipids analyzed during *C. bombicola* fermentation were lactonic sophorolipids (Figure 4.8). A LC method was used to separate sophorolipids from a 20 d culture and TLC was used to determine the proportion of lactonic sophorolipids. Gravimetric analysis in conjunction with TLC of the separated sophorolipids indicated that lactonic sophorolipids constituted approximately 80 % of ethyl acetate extractable sophorolipids (Figure 4.10). This estimation was achieved by the summation of the percent mass of the first three LC fractions (Table 4.2), because these fractions gave the darkest TLC spots for lactonic sophorolipids (Figure 4.10). This result also showed that acidic sophorolipids did not separate very well under the conditions used, because TLC of the last two fractions were plagued with smears and dark spots at the point of origin.

One m issing e lement in t he s tudy of s ophorolipid p roduction w as a n analysis on the purity of these sophorolipids. Davila *et al.* (1993) have shown that sophorolipids comprised of a mixture of nine related compounds. Asmer *et al.* (1988) also have shown that several "unknown lipids" were found with the sophorolipid mixture when *C. bombicola* was cultivated in 18:1 fatty acid containing medium. However, the composition of these "unknown lipids" has not been analyzed. In this study, one TLC

spot l abeled s pot "G" h ad a similar Rf value to one of these "unknown lipids". The presence of the spot "G" during the fermentation of C. bombicola was thus compared to the results of Asmer et al. (1988). These authors noticed two to three spots with Rf values greater than the diacetyl lactone sophorolipid (spot A) when C. bombicola was cultivated in 18:1 fatty acid with and without glucose. Klekner et al. (1991) also showed their TLC results, but the sophorolipids were not eluted to an adequate separation and the TLC plate was overloaded. Unfortunately most studies have not reported the composition of sophorolipids and have instead focused on the absolute concentration of sophorolipids. The authors that have used TLC to study the composition of sophorolipids have not shown the actual TLC and instead have indicated the Rf values concerning sophorolipids (Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Brakemeier et al., 1997; Daniel et al., 1998a, 1998b; Otto et al., 1999). The complete consumption of sunflower oil after 20 d of fermentation likely led to the disappearance of the spot "G" (Figure 4.5 and Figure 4.8). It should be noted that a very minute amount of spot "G" likely existed, and its disappearance was related to the detection limit of the experiments. The overlying significance of the presence of other lipid products within the sophorolipids is that the quality of the sophorolipids was compromised. More specifically, very long fermentation times in the order of 20 d were necessary to obtain sophorolipids with high purity. This result has its main repercussion in the prohibitive cost of long fermentation times. However, the alternate of perpetuating the spot "G" in shorter fermentation times would incur further costs in any downstream processing that would remove the content of spot "G". A balance would be necessary in the guarantee of a pure product of sophorolipids and the cost of attaining that level of

purity. Further studies would be necessary to establish a cost analysis of the removal of this component from sophorolipids.

GC analysis of spot "G" FAME showed that this spot was found to consist of at least nine compounds (Figure 4.12b). MS analysis identified 18:1 fatty acid and tentatively identified 18:2 and 18:0 fatty acids within the contents spot "G". Unfortunately, the remaining six compounds were not identified by GC-MS. One peak with a retention time of 33.48 min interacted non-ideally with the GC column leading to a large "shark fin" peak (Figure 4.12b). This peak could be free fatty acids that have not been converted to FAME (Fedorak, personal communication). The non-ideal nature of this "shark fin" peak led to a very weak match with the MS database. Further refinement of column and GC conditions would likely elucidate the chemical nature of this and other peaks. The GC area for peak nine was strangely large (30 % of the total) in comparison to the size of this peak (Table 4.3 and Figure 4.12b). This large area is likely a result of an integration error, and should not be considered as accurate. The database match between peak six and 16-methylheptadecanoic FAME was likely due to the limitation of some FAME within the database. As indicated in the results, sunflower oil does not have branched fatty acids (Gunstone *et al.*, 1986).

The identification of 18:1, and tentative identification of 18:0 and 18:2 fatty acids were not surprising at first, because these fatty acids could be a small amount of sunflower oil co-extracted with the sophorolipids. However, food grade vegetable oils do not generally have free fatty acids (Gunstone *et al.*, 1986). Moreover, the mass obtained from ethyl

acetate extraction of the production medium at 0 d was well below the detection limit of 0.1 g/L. S ubjecting this extract to TLC did not produce any spots (data not shown). indicating that any free fatty acids in this extract was not detectable. These free fatty acids could have still come from the sunflower oil, but only after cleavage from the oil by a lipase enzyme. Lipases are capable of cleaving ester bonds of triacyl glycerols, thus freeing the fatty acids (Gunstone et al., 1986). More specifically, other authors have postulated that C. bombicola cells produce lipases, because these enzymes have been observed in a similar organism called Candida apicola (Rau et al., 2001; Hommel et al., 1994d). The presence of lipase from C. bombicola would not be surprising, because this organism has been shown to metabolize a variety of vegetable oils from canola, safflower, soybean, and sunflower (Zhou and Kosaric, 1993; Ito and Inoue, 1980, Ito et al., 1982; Zhou et al., 1992; Gobbert et al., 1984; Lee and Kim, 1993; Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Klekner et al., 1991; Casas and Garcia-Ochoa, 1999; Garcia-Ochoa and Casas, 1999). Thus it is probable that 18:0, 18:1 and 18:2 fatty acids are products from the cleavage of the sunflower oil by lipases. Further experiments would have to confirm the presence of a lipase enzyme from C. bombicola.

## 5.5 Surface and interfacial tensions

Acidic sophorolipids are favored as starting material for the synthesis of semi-synthetic biosurfactants. In this study the effectiveness of acidic sophorolipids in reducing surface and interfacial tensions was analyzed. Several authors have studied the effects of sophorolipids on surface and interfacial tension (Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Brakemeier *et al.*, 1995, 1998; Otto *et al.*, 1999; Rau *et al.*, 1999). The CMC is the solubility of a

surfactant within an aqueous phase or the minimum surfactant concentration required for reaching the lowest interfacial and surface tension values (Lin, 1996). The CMC of the acidic sophorolipids was between 70 mg/L to 80 mg/L, while the minimum surface tension was 37 mN/m (Figure 4.19). This result was consistent with the literature values (Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Brakemeier *et al.*, 1995, 1998; Otto *et al.*, 1999; Rau *et al.*, 1999). More specifically, Rau *et al.* (1999) observed that the CMC and minimum surface tension of acidic sophorolipids were 75 mg/L to 85 mg/L and 40 mN/m, respectively.

The acidic sophorolipids were capable of reducing the interfacial tension of toluene-water from 36 mN/m to 2 mN/m. The CMC between toluene-water was approximately 90 mg/L to 100 mg/L (Figure 4.20). Hexadecane is generally used when measuring the interfacial properties of sophorolipids (Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Rau *et al.*, 1999). In this study toluene was used instead, to determine if the results were comparable to hexadecane. A mixture of acidic and lactonic sophorolipids can reduce the interfacial tension of waterhexadecane to 2 mN/m (Cooper and Paddock, 1984). More specifically, acidic sophorolipids have been shown to reduce the interfacial tension of water-hexadecane from 45 t o 8 m N/m (Rau *et al.*, 1999). The results of this study showed that acidic sophorolipids are also effective at reducing interfacial tension of toluene-water. Toluene is one of the most common aromatic pollutants found in the environment (Maier *et al.*, 2000). Further studies would be required to determine if the interfacial tension of other common aromatic pollutants such as benzene, ethyl benzene and xylenes could be reduced by sophorolipids.

## **6.0 Summary and conclusions**

Maximum p roduction o f s ophorolipids w as s uccessfully achieved after 20 d of batch fermentation. The final concentration of sophorolipids and biomass were 45 g/L and 6 g/L. The calculated  $Y_{P/S}$  and  $Y_{X/S}$  were 0.25 and 0.033, respectively and compared to values obtained by other authors (Figure 5.1). This figure showed a constant  $Y_{P/X}$  of 3.7. This outcome indicates that increasing the density of *C. bombicola* culture in the production medium is more important for high a yield of sophorolipids, than optimizing media formulations or fermentation conditions. Different techniques of sophorolipid production would have to be used in order to obtain the  $Y_{P/X}$  above 3.7. Fed-batch and resting cell methods are two possible options to batch fermentations that could possibly increase  $Y_{P/X}$  of 3.7.

Lactones comprised approximately 80 % (m/m) of the ethyl acetate extracted sophorolipids from the 20 d culture (Figure 4.10). Caution is necessary when interpreting the composition of sophorolipids, because ethyl acetate tended to favor the extraction of lactone sophorolipids. Acidic sophorolipids were poorly soluble with this solvent. The solvent 1-pentanol can be used after ethyl acetate to extract any remaining acidic sophorolipids. A small sophorolipid phase was still observed after four extractions with ethyl acetate. This mass of this residue was equivalent to 25 % (m/m) of the ethyl acetate extracted sophorolipids. Unfortunately, the TLC method used did not separate all constituents of this residue.

Fermentation of 20 d was necessary to ensure high purity of sophorolipids, because sophorolipids obtained before 20 d contained other lipid products within the TLC spot "G" (Figure 4.8). This spot had a similar  $R_f$  position as the "unknown lipids" identified by other authors (Asmer *et al.*, 1988). GC analysis of the contents of spot "G" at 15 d of fermentation led to the detection of a mixture of at least nine compounds (Figure 4.12). MS analysis of the contents of spot "G" identified 18:1 fatty acid and tentatively identified 18:2 and 18:0 fatty acids (Figure 4.14, Figure 4.16 and Figure 4.18). The 18:1 fatty acid was identified after 15 d, indicating that longer fermentation times were necessary for complete consumption of this fatty acid, despite being favored for sophorolipid production (Tulloch *et al.*, 1970; Asmer *et al.*, 1988). The presence of 18:0, 18:1 and 18:2 free fatty acids in the production could be indicative of lipase activity. The identification of other peaks within spot "G" would be significant in further understanding the nature of sophorolipid production and oil consumption of *C*. *bombicola*.

The consumption of various fatty acids within the sunflower oil showed that initially, rates of consumption were highest for the least abundant fatty acids (Figure 4.6). However, all fatty acids were equally consumed after 15 d of production. This indicated that there was no overall preference for some fatty acids, despite 18:1 fatty acid being favored for sophorolipid production (Tulloch *et al.*, 1970, Asmer *et al.*, 1988). The consumption profiles of some fatty acids fluctuated greatly during sophorolipid production. In particular, 24:0 fatty acid increased (Figure 4.7) during production of sophorolipids, suggesting that this fatty acid is produced by *C. bombicola*.

Lastly, acidic sophorolipids were capable of reducing toluene-water interfacial tension from 36 mN/m to 2 mN/m with a CMC of 90 mg/L to 100 mg/L. Hexadecane is generally used when measuring the interfacial properties of sophorolipids (Cooper and Paddock, 1984; Rau *et al.*, 1999). This reduction in interfacial tension of toluene-water was comparable to the effect of acidic sophorolipids in hexadecane-water interfaces. The benefit of reducing the toluene-water interfacial tension is that this presents possible applications to biosurfactants used in environments contaminated with aromatics such as benzene, toluene, ethyl benzene and xylenes.

## 7.0 References

Albrecht, A. Rau, U., and Wagner, F. 1996. Initial steps of sophorose lipid biosynthesis by *Candida bombicola* ATCC 22214 grown on glucose. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 46: 67-73.

Andersen, K. W. and Cialone, H. J. 1989. Method for inhibiting sulfide stress corrosion cracking and hydrogen induced stepwise cracking. US patent: 4830828.

Asmer, H. J., Lang, S., Wagner, F., and Wray, V. 1988. Microbial production, structure elucidation and bioconversion of sophorose lipids. Journal of the American Oil Chemist's Society 65: 1460-1466.

Bailey, J. E. and Ollis, D. F. 1985. Biochemical engineering fundamentals. Second edition. McGraw-Hill Incorporated, New York. 984 pages.

Banat, I. M., Makkar, R. S., and Cameotra, S. S. 2000. Potential commercial applications of microbial surfactants. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 53: 495-508.

Bannon, C. D., Breen, G. J., Hai, J. D., Harper, N. L., and O'Rourke, K. L. 1982. Analysis of fatty acid methyl esters with high accuracy and reliability III. Literature review and investigations into the development of rapid procedures for the methoxidecatalyzed methanolysis of fats and oils. Journal of Chromatography 247: 71-89. Bergeron, V. and Guerin, G. 2001. Foaming aqueous medium stable in the presence of grease, stabilization of a family of a foaming aqueous medium in the presence of grease. US patent: 6300296.

Bisht, K. S., Gao, W., and Gross, R. A. 2000. Glycolipids from *Candida bombicola*: polymerization of a 6-O-acryol sophorolipid derivative. Macromolecules 33: 6208-6210.

Bisht, K. S., Gross, R. A., and Kaplan, D. L. 1999. Enzyme-mediated Regioselective acylations of sophorolipids. Journal of Organic Chemistry 64: 780-789.

Bognolo, G. 1999. Biosurfactants as emulsifying agents for hydrocarbons. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects 152: 41-52.

Borzieux, F. 2000. Sophorolipids as stimulating agent of dermal fibroblast metabolism. US patent: 6057302.

Brakemeier, A., Lang, S., Wullbrandt, D., Merschel, L., Benninghoven, A., Buschmann, N., and Wagner, F. 1995. Novel sophorose lipids from microbial conversion of 2-alkanols. Biotechnology Letters 17: 1183-1188.

Brakemeier, A., Wullbrandt, D., and Lang, S. 1997. *Candida bombicola*: production of novel alkyl glycosides based on glucose/ 2-dodecanol. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 50: 161-166.

Brakemeier, A., Wullbrandt, D., and Lang, S. 1998. Microbial alkyl-sophorosides based on 1-dodecanol or 2-, 3- or 4-dodecanones. Biotechnology Letters 20: 215-218.

Bressler, D. C. and Fedorak, P. M. 2001. Identification of disulfides from the biodegradation of dibenzothiophene. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67: 5084-5093.

Brock, T. D., Madigan, M. T., Martinko, J. M., and Parker, J. 1994. Biology of Microorganisms. Seventh edition. Prentice Hall, New Jersey. 909 pages.

Casas, J. A. and Garcia-Ochoa, F. 1999. Sophorolipid production by *Candida bombicola*: medium composition and culture methods. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering 88: 488-494.

Casas, J. A., de Lara, G., and Garcia-Ochoa, F. 1997. Optimization of a synthetic medium for *Candida bombicola* growth using factorial design of experiments. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 21: 221-229.

Cavalero, D. A. 2001. Production of sophorolipids by *Candida b ombicola*. M aster of
Engineering Thesis. Department of Chemical Engineering, McGill University, Montreal.
95 pages.

Clark, J. M., Hopkinson, A., Jones, C., Clarkson, C., Warr, J. F., Chanzy, H., David, C., Fleury, E., Joubert, D., and Lancelon-Pin, C. 2001. Treatment for fabrics. US patent: 6288022.

Colin A. Houston and Associates. 1998. Opportunities in performance surfactants in the U. S. News Release. 3 pages.

Cooper, D. G. and Paddock, D. A. 1984. Production of a biosurfactant from *Torulopsis bombicola*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 47: 173-176.

Cooper, D. G. and Zajic, J. E. 1980. Surface-active compounds from microorganisms. Advances in Applied Microbiology 26: 229-253.

Crawford, R. J. and Sanderson, A. R. 1997. High performance detergent powders. US patent: 5670474.

Daniel, H. J., Otto, R. T., Binder, M., Reuss, M., and Syldatk, C. 1999. Production of sophorolipids from whey: development of a two-stage process with *Cryptococcus curvatus* ATCC 20509 and *Candida bombicola* ATCC 22214 using deproteinized whey concentrates as substrates. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 51: 40-45.

Daniel, H. J., Otto, R. T., Reuss, M., and Syldatk, C. 1998a. Sophorolipid production with high yields on whey concentrate and rapeseed oil without consumption of lactose. Biotechnology Letters 20: 805-807.

Daniel, H. J., Reuss, M., and Syldatk, C. 1998b. Production of sophorolipids in high concentration from deproteinized whey and rapeseed oil in a two stage fed batch process using *Candida bombicola* ATCC 22214 and *Cryptococcus curvatus* ATCC 20509. Biotechnology Letters 20: 1153-1156.

Davila, A. M., Marchal, R., and Vandecasteele, J. P. 1992. Kinetics and balance of a fermentation free from product inhibition: sophorose lipid production by *Candida bombicola*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 38: 6-11.

Davila, A. M., Marchal, R., and Vandecasteele, J. P. 1993. Identification and determination of individual sophorolipids in fermentation products by gradient elution high-performance liquid chromatography with evaporative light-scattering detection. Journal of Chromatography 648: 139-149.

Davila, A. M., Marchal, R., and Vandecasteele J.P. 1994. Sophorose lipid production from lipidic precursors: predictive evaluation of industrial substrates. Journal of Industrial Microbiology 13: 249-257.

Davila, A. M., Marchal, R., and Vandecasteele, J. P. 1997. Sophorose lipid fermentation with differentiated substrate supply for growth and production phases. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 47: 496-501.

Desai, J. D. and Banat, I. M., 1997. Microbial production of surfactants and their commercial potential. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 61: 45-64.

Desai, J. D. and Desai, A. J. 1993. Production of biosurfactants. Surfactant Science Series 48: 65-97.

de Koster, C. G., Heerma, W., Pepermans, H. A. M., and Groenewegen, A. 1995. Tandem mass spectrometry and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies of *Candida bombicola* sophorolipids and product formed on hydrolysis by cutinase. Analytical Biochemistry 230: 135-148.

Deshpande, M. and Daniels, L. 1995. Evaluation of sophorolipid biosurfactant production by *Candida bombicola* using animal fat. Bioresource Technology 54: 143-150.

Ducreux, J., Ballerini, D., Baviere, M., Bocard, C., and Monin, N. 1997. Composition containing surface-active compound and glycolipids and decontamination process for a porous medium polluted by hydrocarbons. US patent: 5654192.

Ernst, B., Heneghan, M., and Hafner, A. 1994. Process for the preparation of glycosides. US patent: 5342929.

Esder, T. W. and Light, R. J.1972. Glucosyl- and acetyltransferases involved in the biosynthesis of glycolipids from *Candida bogoriensis*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 5: 1375-1386.

Fiechter, A. 1992. Biosurfactants: moving towards industrial application. Trends in Biotechnology 10: 208-217.

Freedman, B., Kwolek, W. F., and Pryde, E. H. 1986. Quantitation in the analysis of transesterified soybean oil by capillary gas chromatography. Journal of the American Oil Chemist's Society 63: 1370-1374.

Furstner, A., Radkowski, K., Grabowski, J., Wirtz, C., and Mynott, R. 2000.Ring-closing alkyne metathesis. Application to the total synthesis of sophorolipid lactone. Journal of Organic Chemistry 65: 8758-8762.

Garcia-Ochoa, F. and Casas, J. A. 1999. Unstructured kine tic model for sophorolipid production by *Candida bombicola*. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 25: 613-621.

Georgiou, G., Lin, S. C., and Sharma, M. M. 1992. Review: surface-active compounds from microorganisms. Bio/Technology 10: 60-64.

Gobbert, U., Lang, S., and Wagner, F. 1984. Sophorose lipid formation by resting cells of *Torulopsis bombicola*. Biotechnology Letters 6: 225-230.

Gorin, P. A. J., Spencer, J. F. T., and Tulloch, A. P. 1961. Hydroxy fatty acid glycosides of sophorose from *Torulopsis magnoliae*. Canadian Journal of Chemistry 39: 846-855.

Guerin, G., Joubert, D., Phan, C., and Wong, K. 2001. System containing a non-ionic surfactant and an alkali metal silicate. US patent: 6291420.

Gunstone, F. D., Harwood, J. L., and Padley, F. B. 1986. Lipid handbook. Chapman and Hall, New York. 314 pages.

Hayes, M. E. 1991. Personal care products containing bioemulsifiers. US patent: 4999195.

Hayes, M. E., Hrebener, K. R., Murphy, P. L., Futch, Jr., L. E., Deal, III, J. F., and Bolden, Jr., P. L. 2000. Pre-atomized fuels and process for producing same. US patent: 36983.

Heinz, E., Tulloch, A. P., and Spencer, J. F. T. 1969. Stereospeficic hydroxylation of long chain compounds by a species of *Torulopsis*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 244: 882-887.

Heinz, E., Tulloch, A. P., and Spencer, J. F. T. 1970. Hydroxylation of oleic acid by cellfree extracts of a species of *Torulopsis*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 202: 49-55.

Heipieper, H. J., Weber, F. J., Sikkema, J., Keweloh, H., and de Bont, J. 1994. Mechanisms of resistance of whole cells to toxic organic solvents. Trends in Biotechnology 12: 409-415.

Hillion, G., Marchal, R., Stolz, C., and Borziex, F. 1998. Use of a sophorolipid to provide free radical formation inhibiting activity or elastase inhibiting activity. US patent: 5756471.

Hommel, R. K. and Huse, K. 1993. Regulation of sophorose lipid by *Candida* (*Torulopsis*) apicola. Biotechnology Letters 15: 853-858.

Hommel, R. K. and Ratledge, C. 1993. Biosynthetic mechanisms of low molecular weight surfactants and their precursor molecules. Surface Science Series 48: 3-63.

Hommel, R. K., Lassner, D., Weiss, J., and Kleber, H. P. 1994a. The inducible microsomal fatty alcohol oxidase of *Candida (Torulopsis) apicola*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 40: 729-734.

Hommel, R. K., Stegner, S., Huse, K., and Kleber, H. P. 1994b. Cytochrome P-450 in the sophorose-lipid producing yeast *Candida (Torulopsis) apicola*. Applied Microbiology Biotechnology 40: 724-728.

Hommel, R. K., Stegner, S., Weber, L., and Kleber, H. P. 1994c. Effect of ammonium ions on glycolipid production by *Candida (Torulopsis) apicola*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 42: 192-197.

Hommel, R. K., Stuwer, O., Stuber, W., Haferburg, D., and Kleber, H. P. 1987. Production of water-soluble surface-active exolipids by *Torulopsis apicola*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 26: 199-205.

Hommel, R. K., Weber, L., Weiss, J., Himmelreich, U., Rilke, O., and Kleber, H. P. 1994d. Production of sophorose lipid by *Candida (Torulopsis) apicola* grown on glucose. Journal of Biotechnology 33: 147-155.

Hougen, F. W. and Bodo, V. 1973. Extraction and methanolysis of oil from whole or crushed rapeseed for fatty acid analysis. Journal of the American Oil Chemist's Society 50: 230-234.

Inoue, S. and Ito, S. 1982. Sophorolipids from *Torulopsis bombicola* as microbial surfactants in alkane fermentations. Biotechnology Letters 4: 3-8.

Isoda, H., Kitamoto, D., Shinmoto, H., Matsumara, M., and Nakahara, T. 1997. Microbial extracellular glycolipid induction of differentiation and inhibition of the protein kinase C activity of human promyelocytic leukemia cell line HL60. Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry 61: 609-614.

Ito, S. and Inoue, S. 1982. Sophorolipids from *Torulopsis bombicola*: Possible relation to alkane uptake. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 43: 1278-1283.

Ito, S., Kinta, M., and Inoue, S. 1980. Growth of yeasts on *n*-alkanes: inhibition by a lactonic sophorolipid produced by *Torulopsis bombicola*. Agricultural and Biological Chemistry 44: 2221-2223.

Jones, D. F. 1967. Novel macrocyclic glycolipids from *Torulopsis* gropengiesseri. Journal of the Chemical Society: 479-484.

Jones, D. F. 1968a. Microbiological oxidation of long chain aliphatic compounds. Part II. Branched chain alkanes. Journal of the Chemical Society: 2809-2815.

Jones, D. F. 1968b. Microbiological oxidation of long chain aliphatic compounds. Part III. 1-halogenoalkanes, 1-cyanohexadecane and 1-alkoxyalkanes. Journal of the Chemical Society: 2816-2821.

Kawamoto, T., Kanda, T., and Tanaka, A. 2001. Preparation of an organic solventtolerant strain from baker's yeast. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 55: 476-479.

Kim, S. Y., Oh, D. K., Lee, K. H., and Kim, J. H. 1997. Effect of soybean oil and glucose on sophorose lipid fermentation by *Torulopsis bombicola* in continuous culture. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 48: 23-26.

Klekner, V., Kosaric, N., and Zhou, Q. H. 1991. Sophorose lipids produced from sucrose. Biotechnology Letters 13: 345-348.

Lang, S. and Wagner, F. 1993. Bioconversion of oils and sugars to glycolipids. Surfactant Science Series 48: 205-227.

Lang, S., Brakemeier, A., Rau, U., and Wagner, F. 1995. Biotechnological production of interfacial active glycolipids. In: Oils-Fats-Lipids. Proceedings of the 21<sup>st</sup> Congress of the International Society for Fat Research (ISF) Volume1. PJ Barnes and Associates, England. Pp 53-54.

Lee, K. H. and Kim, J. H. 1993. Distribution of substrates carbon in sophorose lipid production by *Torulopsis bombicola*. Biotechnology Letters 15: 263-266.

Lin, S. C. 1996. Biosurfactants: recent advances. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology 66: 109-120.

Maier, R. M., Pepper, J. L., and Gerba, C. P. 2000. Environmental Microbiology. Academic, San Diego. 585 pages.

Maingault, M. 1999. Utilization of sophorolipids as therapeutically active substances or cosmetic products, in particular for the treatment of the skin. US patent: 5981497.

Makkar, R. S. and Cameotra, S. S. 1999. Biosurfactant production by microorganisms on unconventional carbon sources. Journal of Surfactants and Detergents 2: 237-241.

McCaffrey, W. C. and Cooper, D. G. 1995. Sophorolipids production by *Candida bombicola* using self-cycling fermentation. Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering 79: 146-151.

Nunez, A., Ashby, R., Foglia, T. A., and Solaiman, D. K. Y. 2001. Analysis and characterization of sophorolipids by liquid chromatography with a tmospheric p ressure chemical ionization. Chromatographia 53: 673-677.

Ogawa, S. and Ota, Y. 2000. Influence of exogenous natural oils on the  $\omega$ -1 and  $\omega$ -2 hydroxy fatty acid moiety of sophorose lipid produced by *Candida bombicola*. Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry 64: 2466-2468.

Otto, R. T., Daniel, H. J., Pekin, G., Muller-Decker, K., Furstenberger, G., Reuss, M., and Syldatk, C. 1999. Production of sophorolipids from whey. II. Product composition, surface-active properties, cytotoxicity and stability against hydrolases by enzymatic treatment. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 52: 495-501.

Pierce, D. and Heilman, T. J. 2001. Germicidal composition. US patent: 6262038.

Pirt, S. J., 1975. Principles of microbe and cell cultivation. Blackwell Scientific, Oxford. 274 pages.

Rau, U., Manzke, C., and Wagner, F. 1996. Influence of substrate supply on the production of sophorose lipids by *Candida bombicola* ATCC 22214. Biotechnology Letters 18: 149-154.

Rau, U., Hammen, S., Heckmann, R., Wray, V., and Lang, S. 2001. Sophorolipids: a source for novel compounds. Industrial Crops and Products 13: 85-92.

Rau, U., Heckmann, R., Wray, V., and Lang, S. 1999. Enzymatic conversion of sophorolipid into a glucose lipid. Biotechnology Letters 21: 973-977.

Ron, E. Z. and Rosenberg, E. 2001. Natural roles of biosurfactants. Environmental Microbiology 3: 229-236.

Rosenberg, E. and Ron, E. Z. 1999. High and low molecular mass microbial surfactants. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 52: 154-162.

Schumacher, C., Horsch, B., von der Eltz, A., Bredereck, K., and Strauss, M. 1998. Use of carbohydrate c ompounds as auxiliaries for dyeing and printing fiber m aterials. U S patent: 5766267.

Schippers, C., Gebner, K., Muller, T., and Scheper, T. 2000. Microbial degradation of phenanthrene by addition of a sophorolipid mixture. Journal of Biotechnology 83: 189-198.

Spencer, J. F. T., Gorin, P. A. J., and Tulloch, A. P. 1970. *Torulopsis bombicola* sp. n. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 36: 129-133.

Spencer, J. F. T., Spencer, D. M., and Tulloch, A. P. 1979. Extracellular glycolipids of yeasts. In: Secondary Products of Metabolism. Economic Microbiology Volume 3. Academic Press, New York. Pp 523-539.

Spencer, J. F. T., Tulloch, A. P., and Gorin, P. A. J. 1962. Fermentation of long chain compounds by *Torulopsis* magnoliae. II. Factors influencing production of hydroxy fatty acid glycosides. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 4: 271-279.

Stodola. F. H., Deinema, M. H., and Spencer, J. F. T. 1967. Extracellular lipids of yeasts. Bacteriological Reviews 31: 194-213.

Syldatk, C. and Wagner, F. 1987. Production of biosurfactants. Biosurfactants and Biotechnology 25: 89-120.

Thorel, J. N. 1998. Cosmetic product compatible with cutaneous e cology. US p atent: 6342236.

Tulloch, A. P. and Spencer, J. F. T. 1968a. A new hydroxy fatty acid sophoroside from *Candida bogoriensis*. Canadian Journal of Chemistry 46: 345-348.

Tulloch, A. P. and Spencer, J. F. T. 1968b. Fermentation of long chain compounds by *Torulopsis* apicola. IV. Products from esters and hydrocarbons with 14 and 15 carbon atoms and from methyl palmitoleate. Canadian Journal of Chemistry 46: 1523-1528.

Tulloch, A. P. and Spencer, J. F. T. 1968c. Structure and reactions of lactonic and acidic sophorosides of 17-hydroxyoctadecanoic acid. Canadian Journal of Chemistry 46: 3337-3349.

Tulloch, A. P. and Spencer, J. F. T. 1972. Formation of long chain alcohol ester of hydroxy fatty acid sophorolipids by fermentation of fatty alcohol by a *Torulopsis* species. Journal of Organic Chemistry 37: 2868-2870.

Tulloch, A. P., Hill, A., and Spencer, J. F. T. 1967. A new type of macrocyclic lactone from *Torulopsis apicola*. Chemical Communications 428: 584-586.

Tulloch, A. P., Spencer, J. F. T., and Gorin, P. A. J. 1962. The fermentation of long chain compounds by *Torulopsis magnoliae*. Canadian Journal of Chemistry 40: 1326-1338.

United Soybean Board. 2002. Soy-based emulsifiers and wetting agents. Market Opportunity Summary. 2 pages.

Yongmei, H. and Lu-Kwang, J. 2001. Purification of lactonic sophorolipids by crystallization. Journal of Biotechnology 87: 263-272.

Young, C. B. F. and Coons, K. W. 1945. Surface-active agents. Chemical Publishing Company Incorporated, New York. 381 pages.

Webber, J. 2000. Production of sophorolipid from *Candida bombicola* using the selfcycling fermenter. Master of Engineering Thesis. Department of Chemical Engineering, McGill University, Montreal. 73 pages.

Weber, L., Stach, J., Haufe, G., Hommel, R., and Kleber, H. P. 1990. Elucidation of the structure of an unusual cyclic glycolipid from *Torulopsis apicola*. Carbohydrate Research 206: 13-19.

White, S. H., King, G. I., and Cain, J. E. 1981 Location of hexane in lipid bilayers determined by neutron diffraction. Nature 290: 161-163.

Zhou, Q. H. and Kosaric, N. 1993. Effect of lactose and olive oil on intra- and extracellular lipids of *Torulopsis bombicola*. Biotechnology Letters 15: 477-482.

Zhou, Q. H. and Kosaric, N. 1995. Utilization of canola oil and lactose to produce biosurfactant with *Candida bombicola*. Journal of the American Oil Chemist's Society 72: 67-71.

Zhou, Q. H., Klekner, V., and Kosaric, N. 1992. Production of sophorose lipids by *Torulopsis bombicola* from safflower oil and glucose. Journal of the American Oil Chemist's Society 69: 89-91.